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Chapter 18: Fiction
RAY BRADBURY (b. 1920)

Born in Waukegan, Illinois, Ray Bradbury moved during his high school years to Los Angeles and has spent most of his life there. He began writing science fiction and fantasy stories for “pulp” magazines and his reputation grew after World War II, especially with the publication in 1950 of his collection, The Martian Chronicles. He has written poetry, drama, and fiction of various kinds, but is best known for his science fiction, including the novels Fahrenheit 451 (1953) and Something Wicked This Way Comes (1962) and the story collections The Illustrated Man (1951) and I Sing the Body Electric! (1969).

August 2026: There Will Come Soft Rains 
(1950)

In the living room the voice-clock sang, Tick-tock, seven o’clock, time to get up, time to get up, seven o’clock! as if it were afraid that nobody would. The morning house lay empty. The clock ticked on, repeating and repeating its sounds into the emptiness. Seven-nine, breakfast time, seven-nine! 

In the kitchen the breakfast stove gave a hissing sigh and ejected from its warm interior eight pieces of perfectly browned toast, eight eggs sunnyside up, sixteen slices of bacon, two coffees, and two cool glasses of milk.

“Today is August 4, 2026,” said a second voice from the kitchen ceiling, “in the city of Allendale, California.” It repeated the date three times for memory’s sake. “Today is Mr. Featherstone’s birthday. Today is the anniversary of Tilita’s marriage. Insurance is payable, as are the water, gas, and light bills.”

Somewhere in the walls, relays clicked, memory tapes glided under electric eyes.

Eight-one, tick-tock, eight-one o’clock, off to school, off to work, run, run, eight-one! But no doors slammed, no carpets took the soft tread of rubber heels. It was raining outside. The weather box on the front door sang quietly: “Rain, rain, go away; rubbers, raincoats for today . . .” And the rain tapped on the empty house, echoing.

Outside, the garage chimed and lifted its door to reveal the waiting car. After a long wait the door swung down again.

At eight-thirty the eggs were shriveled and the toast was like stone. An aluminum wedge scraped them into the sink, where hot water whirled them down a metal throat which digested and flushed them away to the distant 
sea. The dirty dishes were dropped into a hot washer and emerged twinkling dry.

Nine-fifteen, sang the clock, time to clean.
Out of warrens in the wall, tiny robot mice darted. The rooms were acrawl with the small cleaning animals, all rubber and metal. They thudded against chairs, whirling their mustached runners, kneading the rug nap, sucking gently at hidden dust. Then, like mysterious invaders, they popped into their burrows. Their pink electric eyes faded. The house was clean.

Ten o’clock. The sun came out from behind the rain. The house stood alone in a city of rubble and ashes. This was the one house left standing. At night the ruined city gave off a radioactive glow which could be seen for miles.

Ten-fifteen. The garden sprinklers whirled up in golden founts, filling the soft morning air with scatterings of brightness. The water pelted window-panes, running down the charred west side where the house had been burned evenly free of its white paint. The entire west face of the house was black, save for five places. Here the silhouette in paint of a man mowing a lawn. Here, as in a photograph, a woman bent to pick flowers. Still farther over, their images burned on wood in one titanic instant, a small boy, hands flung into the air; higher up, the image of a thrown ball, and opposite him a girl, hands raised to catch a ball which never came down.

The five spots of paint—the man, the woman, the children, the ball—remained. The rest was a thin charcoaled layer.

The gentle sprinkler rain filled the garden with falling light.

Until this day, how well the house had kept its peace. How carefully it had inquired, “Who goes there? What’s the password?” and, getting no answer from lonely foxes and whining cats, it had shut up its windows and drawn shades in an old-maidenly preoccupation with self-protection which bordered on a mechanical paranoia.

It quivered at each sound, the house did. If a sparrow brushed a window, the shade snapped up. The bird, startled, flew off! No, not even a bird must touch the house!

The house was an altar with ten thousand attendants, big, small, servicing, attending, in choirs. But the gods had gone away, and the ritual of the religion continued senselessly, uselessly.

Twelve noon.

A dog whined, shivering, on the front porch.

The front door recognized the dog voice and opened. The dog, once huge and fleshy, but now gone to bone and covered with sores, moved in and through the house, tracking mud. Behind it whirred angry mice, angry at having to pick up mud, angry at inconvenience.

For not a leaf fragment blew under the door but what the wall panels flipped open and the copper scrap rats flashed swiftly out. The offending dust, hair, or paper, seized in miniature steel jaws, was raced back to the burrows. There, down tubes which fed into the cellar, it was dropped into the sighing vent of an incinerator which sat like evil Baal in a dark corner.

The dog ran upstairs, hysterically yelping to each door, at last realizing, as the house realized, that only silence was here.

It sniffed the air and scratched the kitchen door. Behind the door, the stove was making pancakes which filled the house with a rich baked odor and the scent of maple syrup.

The dog frothed at the mouth, lying at the door, sniffing, its eyes turned to fire. It ran wildly in circles, biting at its tail, spun in a frenzy, and died. It lay in the parlor for an hour.

Two o’clock, sang a voice.

Delicately sensing decay at last, the regiments of mice hummed out as softly as blown gray leaves in an electrical wind.

Two-fifteen.

The dog was gone.

In the cellar, the incinerator glowed suddenly and a whirl of sparks leaped up the chimney.

Two thirty-five.

Bridge tables sprouted from patio walls. Playing cards fluttered onto pads in a shower of pips. Martinis manifested on an oaken bench with egg-salad sandwiches. Music played.

But the tables were silent and the cards untouched.

At four o’clock the tables folded like great butterflies back through the paneled walls.

Four-thirty.

The nursery walls glowed.

Animals took shape: yellow giraffes, blue lions, pink antelopes, lilac panthers cavorting in crystal substance. The walls were glass. They looked out upon color and fantasy. Hidden films clocked through well-oiled sprockets, and the walls lived. The nursery floor was woven to resemble a crisp, cereal meadow. Over this ran aluminum roaches and iron crickets, and in the hot still air butterflies of delicate red tissue wavered among the sharp aroma of animal spoors! There was the sound like a great matted yellow hive of bees within a dark bellows, the lazy bumble of a purring lion. And there was the patter of okapi feet and the murmur of a fresh jungle rain, like other hoofs, falling upon the summer-starched grass. Now the walls dissolved into distances of parched weed, mile on mile, and warm endless sky. The animals drew away into thorn brakes and water holes.

It was the children’s hour.

Five o’clock. The bath filled with clear hot water.

Six, seven, eight o’clock. The dinner dishes manipulated like magic tricks, and in the study a click. In the metal stand opposite the hearth where a fire now blazed up warmly, a cigar popped out, half an inch of soft gray ash on it, smoking, waiting.

Nine o’clock. The beds warmed their hidden circuits, for nights were cool here.

Nine-five. A voice spoke from the study ceiling:

“Mrs. McClellan, which poem would you like this evening?”

The house was silent.

The voice said at last, “Since you express no preference, I shall select a poem at random.” Quiet music rose to back the voice. “Sara Teasdale.1 As I recall, your favorite. . . .

“There will come soft rains and the smell of the ground,

And swallows circling with their shimmering sound;

And frogs in the pools singing at night,

And wild plum trees in tremulous white;

Robins will wear their feathery fire,

Whistling their whims on a low fence-wire;

And not one will know of the war, not one

Will care at last when it is done.

Not one would mind, neither bird nor tree,

If mankind perished utterly;

And Spring herself, when she woke at dawn

Would scarcely know that we were gone.”

The fire burned on the stone hearth and the cigar fell away into a mound of quiet ash on its tray. The empty chairs faced each other between the silent walls, and the music played.

At ten o’clock the house began to die.

The wind blew. A falling tree bough crashed through the kitchen window. Cleaning solvent, bottled, shattered over the stove. The room was ablaze in an instant!

“Fire!” screamed a voice. The house lights flashed, water pumps shot water from the ceilings. But the solvent spread on the linoleum, licking, eating, under the kitchen door, while the voices took it up in chorus: “Fire, fire, fire!”

The house tried to save itself. Doors sprang tightly shut, but the windows were broken by the heat and the wind blew and sucked upon the fire.

The house gave ground as the fire in ten billion angry sparks moved with flaming ease from room to room and then up the stairs. While scurrying water rats squeaked from the walls, pistoled their water, and ran for more. And the wall sprays let down showers of mechanical rain.

But too late. Somewhere, sighing, a pump shrugged to a stop. The quenching rain ceased. The reserve water supply which had filled baths and washed dishes for many quiet days was gone.

The fire crackled up the stairs. It fed upon Picassos and Matisses in the upper halls, like delicacies, baking off the oily flesh, tenderly crisping the canvases into black shavings.

Now the fire lay in beds, stood in windows, changed the colors of drapes!

And then, reinforcements.

From attic trapdoors, blind robot faces peered down with faucet mouths gushing green chemical.

The fire backed off, as even an elephant must at the sight of a dead snake. Now there were twenty snakes whipping over the floor, killing the fire with a clear cold venom of green froth.

But the fire was clever. It had sent flame outside the house, up through the attic to the pumps there. An explosion! The attic brain which directed the pumps was shattered into bronze shrapnel on the beams.

The fire rushed back into every closet and felt of the clothes hung there.

The house shuddered, oak bone on bone, its bared skeleton cringing from the heat, its wire, its nerves revealed as if a surgeon had torn the skin off to let the red veins and capillaries quiver in the scalded air. Help, help! Fire! Run, run! Heat snapped mirrors like the first brittle winter ice. And the voices wailed Fire, fire, run, run, like a tragic nursery rhyme, a dozen voices, high, low, like children dying in a forest, alone, alone. And the voices fading as the wires popped their sheatings like hot chestnuts. One, two, three, four, five voices died.

In the nursery the jungle burned. Blue lions roared, purple giraffes bounded off. The panthers ran in circles, changing color, and ten million animals, running before the fire, vanished off toward a distant steaming river. . . .

Ten more voices died. In the last instant under the fire avalanche, other choruses, oblivious, could be heard announcing the time, playing music, cutting the lawn by remote-control mower, or setting an umbrella frantically out and in the slamming and opening front door, a thousand things happening, like a clock shop when each clock strikes the hour insanely before or after the other, a scene of maniac confusion, yet unity; singing, screaming, a few last cleaning mice darting bravely out to carry the horrid ashes away! And one voice, with sublime disregard for the situation, read poetry aloud in the fiery study, until all the film spools burned, until all the wires withered and the circuits cracked.

The fire burst the house and let it slam flat down, puffing out skirts of spark and smoke.

In the kitchen, an instant before the rain of fire and timber, the stove could be seen making breakfasts at a psychopathic rate, ten dozen eggs, six loaves of toast, twenty dozen bacon strips, which, eaten by fire, started the stove working again, hysterically hissing!

The crash. The attic smashing into kitchen and parlor. The parlor into cellar, cellar into sub-cellar. Deep freeze, armchair, film tapes, circuits, beds, and all like skeletons thrown in a cluttered mound deep under.

Smoke and silence. A great quantity of smoke.

Dawn showed faintly in the east. Among the ruins, one wall stood alone. Within the wall, a last voice said, over and over again and again, even as the sun rose to shine upon the heaped rubble and steam:

“Today is August 5, 2026, today is August 5, 2026, today is. . . .”

Study and Discussion Questions

1. 
Think about the Sara Teasdale poem that gives the story its title. How does it apply to the situation the story narrates?

2.
Who is the main character of this story?

3.
Summarize the story’s plot. What does Bradbury use to move you from one event to the next?

4.
Though there are no actual human beings in this story, list some of the traces or evidence of people.

5.
What can this house do? What can’t it do?

Suggestions for Writing

1. 
This is a rare example of a story without any human beings in it. How is that absence necessary to the meaning of this story?

2.
Write about the significance and use of time in the story.

3.
Bradbury writes: “The house was an altar with ten thousand attendants, big, small, servicing, attending, in choirs. But the gods had gone away, and the ritual of the religion continued senselessly, uselessly.” Discuss this passage as a comment on our current relation to science and 
technology.

AMBROSE BIERCE (1842–1914?)

Ambrose Bierce was born in rural Meigs County, Ohio, worked as a printer’s apprentice, and had only a year of formal education. After serving in the Union army in the Civil War, he moved to San Francisco, where he became a well-known journalist. In 1897, he went to Washington, DC, as a newspaper correspondent and in 1913 left for Mexico, where he disappeared. His writing includes Tales of Soldiers and Civilians (1891) and The Cynic’s Word Book (1906), later retitled The Devil’s Dictionary (1911).

An Occurrence at Owl Creek Bridge 
(1892)

I

A man stood upon a railroad bridge in northern Alabama, looking down into the swift water twenty feet below. The man’s hands were behind his back, the wrists bound with a cord. A rope closely encircled his neck. It was attached to a stout cross-timber above his head and the slack fell to the level of his knees. Some loose boards laid upon the sleepers supporting the metals of the railway supplied a footing for him and his executioners—two private soldiers of the Federal army, directed by a sergeant who in civil life may have been a deputy sheriff. At a short remove upon the same temporary platform was an officer in the uniform of his rank, armed. He was a captain. A sentinel at each end of the bridge stood with his rifle in the position known as “support,” that is to say, vertical in front of the left shoulder, the hammer resting on the forearm thrown straight across the chest—a formal and unnatural position, enforcing an erect carriage of the body. It did not appear to be the duty of these two men to know what was occurring at the centre of the bridge; they merely blockaded the two ends of the foot planking that traversed it.

Beyond one of the sentinels nobody was in sight; the railroad ran straight away into a forest for a hundred yards, then, curving, was lost to view. Doubtless there was an outpost farther along. The other bank of the stream was open ground—a gentle acclivity topped with a stockade of vertical 
tree trunks, loopholed for rifles, with a single embrasure through which 
protruded the muzzle of a brass cannon commanding the bridge. Midway of the slope between bridge and fort were the spectators—a single company of infantry in line, at “parade rest,” the butts of the rifles on the ground, the barrels inclining slightly backward against the right shoulder, the hands crossed upon the stock. A lieutenant stood at the right of the line, the point of his sword upon the ground, his left hand resting upon his right. Excepting the group of four at the centre of the bridge, not a man moved. The company faced the bridge, staring stonily, motionless. The sentinels, facing the banks of the stream, might have been statues to adorn the bridge. The captain 
stood with folded arms, silent, observing the work of his subordinates, but making no sign. Death is a dignitary who when he comes announced is to 
be received with formal manifestations of respect, even by those most familiar with him. In the code of military etiquette silence and fixity are forms of deference.

The man who was engaged in being hanged was apparently about thirty-five years of age. He was a civilian, if one might judge from his habit, which was 
that of a planter. His features were good—a straight nose, firm mouth, broad 

forehead, from which his long, dark hair was combed straight back, falling behind his ears to the collar of his well-fitting frock-coat. He wore a mustache 
and pointed beard, but no whiskers; his eyes were large and dark gray, and had a kindly expression which one would hardly have expected in one whose neck was in the hemp. Evidently this was no vulgar assassin. The liberal military code makes provision for hanging many kinds of persons, and gentlemen are not excluded.

The preparations being complete, the two private soldiers stepped aside and each drew away the plank upon which he had been standing. The sergeant turned to the captain, saluted and placed himself immediately behind that 
officer, who in turn moved apart one pace. These movements left the condemned man and the sergeant standing on the two ends of the same plank, which spanned three of the cross-ties of the bridge. The end upon which the civilian stood almost, but not quite, reached a fourth. This plank had been held in place by the weight of the captain; it was now held by that of the sergeant. At a signal from the former the latter would step aside, the plank would tilt and the condemned man go down between two ties. The arrangement commended itself to his judgment as simple and effective. His face had not been covered nor his eyes bandaged. He looked a moment at his “unsteadfast footing,” then let his gaze wander to the swirling water of the stream racing madly beneath his feet. A piece of dancing driftwood caught his attention and his eyes followed it down the current. How slowly it appeared to move! What a sluggish stream!

He closed his eyes in order to fix his last thoughts upon his wife and children. The water, touched to gold by the early sun, the brooding mists under the banks at some distance down the stream, the fort, the soldiers, the piece of drift—all had distracted him. And now he became conscious of a new disturbance. Striking through the thought of his dear ones was a sound which he could neither ignore nor understand, a sharp, distinct, metallic percussion like the stroke of a blacksmith’s hammer upon the anvil; it had the same ringing quality. He wondered what it was, and whether immeasurably distant or near by—it seemed both. Its recurrence was regular, but as slow as the tolling of a death knell. He awaited each stroke with impatience and—he knew not why—apprehension. The intervals of silence grew progressively longer; 
the delays became maddening. With their greater infrequency the sounds increased in strength and sharpness. They hurt his ear like the thrust of 
a knife; he feared he would shriek. What he heard was the ticking of his watch.

He unclosed his eyes and saw again the water below him. “If I could free my hands,” he thought, “I might throw off the noose and spring into the stream. By diving I could evade the bullets and, swimming vigorously, reach the bank, take to the woods and get away home. My home, thank God, is as yet outside their lines; my wife and little ones are still beyond the invader’s farthest advance.”

As these thoughts, which have here to be set down in words, were flashed into the doomed man’s brain rather than evolved from it the captain nodded to the sergeant. The sergeant stepped aside.

II

Peyton Farquhar was a well-to-do planter, of an old and highly respected Alabama family. Being a slave owner and like other slave owners a politician he was naturally an original secessionist and ardently devoted to the Southern cause. Circumstances of an imperious nature, which it is unnecessary to relate here, had prevented him from taking service with the gallant army that had fought the disastrous campaigns ending with the fall of Corinth, and he chafed under the inglorious restraint, longing for the release of his energies, the larger life of the soldier, the opportunity for distinction. That opportunity, he felt, would come, as it comes to all in war time. Meanwhile he did what he could. No service was too humble for him to perform in aid of the South, no adventure too perilous for him to undertake if consistent with the character of a civilian who was at heart a soldier, and who in good faith and without too much qualification assented to at least a part of the frankly villainous dictum that all is fair in love and war.

One evening while Farquhar and his wife were sitting on a rustic bench near the entrance to his grounds, a gray-clad soldier rode up to the gate and asked for a drink of water. Mrs. Farquhar was only too happy to serve him with her own white hands. While she was fetching the water her husband approached the dusty horseman and inquired eagerly for news from the front.

“The Yanks are repairing the railroads,” said the man, “and are getting ready for another advance. They have reached the Owl Creek bridge, put it in order and built a stockade on the north bank. The commandant has issued an order, which is posted everywhere, declaring that any civilian caught interfering with the railroad, its bridges, tunnels or trains will be summarily hanged. I saw the order.”

“How far is it to the Owl Creek bridge?” Farquhar asked.

“About thirty miles.”

“Is there no force on this side the creek?”

“Only a picket post half a mile out, on the railroad, and a single sentinel at this end of the bridge.”

“Suppose a man—a civilian and student of hanging—should elude the picket post and perhaps get the better of the sentinel,” said Farquhar, smiling, “what could he accomplish?”

The soldier reflected. “I was there a month ago,” he replied. “I observed that the flood of last winter had lodged a great quantity of driftwood against the wooden pier at this end of the bridge. It is now dry and would burn like tow.”

The lady had now brought the water, which the soldier drank. He thanked her ceremoniously, bowed to her husband and rode away. An hour later, after nightfall, he repassed the plantation, going northward in the direction from which he had come. He was a Federal scout.

III

As Peyton Farquhar fell straight downward through the bridge he lost consciousness and was as one already dead. From this state he was awakened—ages later, it seemed to him—by the pain of a sharp pressure upon his throat, followed by a sense of suffocation. Keen, poignant agonies seemed to shoot from his neck downward through every fibre of his body and limbs. These pains appeared to flash along well-defined lines of ramification and to beat with an inconceivably rapid periodicity. They seemed like streams of pulsating fire heating him to an intolerable temperature. As to his head, he was conscious of nothing but a feeling of fullness—of congestion. These sensations were unaccompanied by thought. The intellectual part of his nature was already effaced; he had power only to feel, and feeling was torment. He was conscious of motion. Encompassed in a luminous cloud, of which he was now merely the fiery heart, without material substance, he swung through unthinkable arcs of oscillation, like a vast 
pendulum. Then all at once, with terrible suddenness, the light about him shot upward with the noise of a loud plash; a frightful roaring was in his ears, and all was cold and dark. The power of thought was restored; he knew that the rope had broken and he had fallen into the stream. There was no additional strangulation; the noose about his neck was already suffocating him and kept the water from his lungs. To die of hanging at the bottom of a river!—the idea seemed to him ludicrous. He opened his eyes in the darkness and saw above him a gleam of light, but how distant, how inaccessible! He was still sinking, for the light became fainter and fainter until it was a mere glimmer. Then it began to grow and brighten, and he knew that he was rising toward the surface—knew it with reluctance, for he was now very comfortable. “To be hanged and drowned,” he thought, “that is not so bad; but I do not wish to be shot. No; I will not be shot; that is not fair.”

He was not conscious of an effort, but a sharp pain in his wrist apprised him that he was trying to free his hands. He gave the struggle his attention, as an idler might observe the feat of a juggler, without interest in the outcome. What splendid effort!—what magnificent, what superhuman strength! Ah, that was a fine endeavor! Bravo! The cord fell away; his arms parted and floated upward, the hands dimly seen on each side in the growing light. He watched them with a new interest as first one and then the other pounced upon the noose at his neck. They tore it away and thrust it fiercely aside, its undulations resembling those of a water-snake. “Put it back, put it back!” He thought 
he shouted these words to his hands, for the undoing of the noose had been succeeded by the direst pang that he had yet experienced. His neck ached 
horribly; his brain was on fire; his heart, which had been fluttering faintly, gave a great leap, trying to force itself out at his mouth. His whole body was racked and wrenched with an insupportable anguish! But his disobedient hands gave no heed to the command. They beat the water vigorously with quick, downward strokes, forcing him to the surface. He felt his head emerge; his eyes were blinded by the sunlight; his chest expanded convulsively, and with a supreme and crowning agony his lungs engulfed a great draught of air, which instantly he expelled in a shriek!

He was now in full possession of his physical senses. They were, indeed, preternaturally keen and alert. Something in the awful disturbance of his organic system had so exalted and refined them that they made record of things never before perceived. He felt the ripples upon his face and heard their separate sounds as they struck. He looked at the forest on the bank of the stream, saw the individual trees, the leaves and the veining of each leaf—saw the very insects upon them: the locusts, the brilliant-bodied flies, the gray spiders stretching their webs from twig to twig. He noted the prismatic colors in all the dewdrops upon a million blades of grass. The humming of the gnats that danced above the eddies of the stream, the beating of the dragon-flies’ wings, the strokes of the water-spiders’ legs, like oars which had lifted their boat—all these made audible music. A fish slid along beneath his eyes and he heard the rush of its body parting the water.

He had come to the surface facing down the stream; in a moment the visible world seemed to wheel slowly round, himself the pivotal point, and he saw the bridge, the fort, the soldiers upon the bridge, the captain, the sergeant, the two privates, his executioners. They were in silhouette against the blue sky. They shouted and gesticulated, pointing at him. The captain had drawn his pistol, but did not fire; the others were unarmed. Their movements were grotesque and horrible, their forms gigantic.

Suddenly he heard a sharp report and something struck the water smartly within a few inches of his head, spattering his face with spray. He heard 
a second report, and saw one of the sentinels with his rifle at his shoulder, a light cloud of blue smoke rising from the muzzle. The man in the water saw the eye of the man on the bridge gazing into his own through the sights of the rifle. 
He observed that it was a gray eye and remembered having read that gray eyes were keenest, and that all famous marksmen had them. Nevertheless, this one had missed.

A counter-swirl had caught Farquhar and turned him half round; he was again looking into the forest on the bank opposite the fort. The sound of a clear, high voice in a monotonous singsong now rang out behind him and came across the water with a distinctness that pierced and subdued all other sounds, even the beating of the ripples in his ears. Although no soldier, he had frequented camps enough to know the dread significance of that deliberate, drawling, aspirated chant; the lieutenant on shore was taking a part in the morning’s work. How coldly and pitilessly—with what an even, calm 
intonation, presaging, and enforcing tranquility in the men—with what accurately measured intervals fell those cruel words:

“Attention, company! . . . Shoulder arms! . . . Ready! . . . Aim! . . . Fire!”

Farquhar dived—dived as deeply as he could. The water roared in his ears like the voice of Niagara, yet he heard the dulled thunder of the volley and, rising again toward the surface, met shining bits of metal, singularly flattened, oscillating slowly downward. Some of them touched him on the face and hands, then fell away, continuing their descent. One lodged between his collar and neck; it was uncomfortably warm and he snatched it out.

As he rose to the surface, gasping for breath, he saw that he had been a long time under water; he was perceptibly farther down stream—nearer to safety. The soldiers had almost finished reloading; the metal ramrods flashed all at once in the sunshine as they were drawn from the barrels, turned in the air, and thrust into their sockets. The two sentinels fired again, independently and ineffectually.

The hunted man saw all this over his shoulder; he was now swimming vigorously with the current. His brain was as energetic as his arms and legs; he thought with the rapidity of lightning.

“The officer,” he reasoned, “will not make that martinet’s error a second time. It is as easy to dodge a volley as a single shot. He has probably already given the command to fire at will. God help me, I cannot dodge them all!”

An appalling plash within two yards of him was followed by a loud, rushing sound, diminuendo, which seemed to travel back through the air to the fort and died in an explosion which stirred the very river to its deeps! A rising sheet of water curved over him, fell down upon him, blinded him, strangled him! The cannon had taken a hand in the game. As he shook his head free from the commotion of the smitten water he heard the deflected shot humming through the air ahead, and in an instant it was cracking and smashing the branches in the forest beyond.

“They will not do that again,” he thought; “the next time they will use a 
charge of grape. I must keep my eye upon the gun; the smoke will apprise me—the report arrives too late; it lags behind the missile. That is a good gun.”

Suddenly he felt himself whirled round and round—spinning like a top. The water, the banks, the forests, the now distant bridge, fort and men—all were commingled and blurred. Objects were represented by their colors only; circular horizontal streaks of color—that was all he saw. He had been caught in a vortex and was being whirled on with a velocity of advance and gyration that made him giddy and sick. In a few moments he was flung upon the gravel at the foot of the left bank of the stream—the southern bank—and behind a projecting point which concealed him from his enemies. The sudden arrest of his motion, the abrasion of one of his hands on the gravel, restored him, and he wept with delight. He dug his fingers into the sand, threw it over himself in handfuls and audibly blessed it. It looked like diamonds, rubies, emeralds; he could think of nothing beautiful which it did not resemble. The trees upon the 

bank were giant garden plants; he noted a definite order in their arrangement, inhaled the fragrance of their blooms. A strange, roseate light shone through the spaces among their trunks and the wind made in their branches the music of æolian harps. He had no wish to perfect his escape—was content to remain in that enchanting spot until retaken.

A whiz and rattle of grapeshot among the branches high above his head roused him from his dream. The baffled cannoneer had fired him a random farewell. He sprang to his feet, rushed up the sloping bank, and plunged into the forest.

All that day he traveled, laying his course by the rounding sun. The forest seemed interminable; nowhere did he discover a break in it, not even a woodman’s road. He had not known that he lived in so wild a region. There was something uncanny in the revelation.

By nightfall he was fatigued, footsore, famishing. The thought of his 
wife and children urged him on. At last he found a road which led him in what he knew to be the right direction. It was as wide and straight as a city street, yet it seemed untraveled. No fields bordered it, no dwelling anywhere. Not so much as the barking of a dog suggested human habitation. The black bodies of the trees formed a straight wall on both sides, terminating on 
the horizon in a point, like a diagram in a lesson in perspective. Overhead, as he looked up through this rift in the wood, shone great golden stars looking unfamiliar and grouped in strange constellations. He was sure they were arranged in some order which had a secret and malign significance. The wood on either side was full of singular noises, among which—once, twice, and again—he distinctly heard whispers in an unknown tongue.

His neck was in pain and lifting his hand to it he found it horribly swollen. He knew that it had a circle of black where the rope had bruised it. His eyes felt congested; he could no longer close them. His tongue was swollen with thirst; he relieved its fever by thrusting it forward from between his teeth into the cold air. How softly the turf had carpeted the untraveled avenue—he could no longer feel the roadway beneath his feet!

Doubtless, despite his suffering, he had fallen asleep while walking, for now he sees another scene—perhaps he has merely recovered from a delirium. He stands at the gate of his own home. All is as he left it, and all bright and beautiful in the morning sunshine. He must have traveled the entire night. As he pushes open the gate and passes up the wide white walk, he sees a flutter of female garments; his wife, looking fresh and cool and sweet, steps down from the veranda to meet him. At the bottom of the steps she stands waiting, with a smile of ineffable joy, an attitude of matchless grace and dignity. Ah, how beautiful she is! He springs forward with extended arms. As he is about to clasp her he feels a stunning blow upon the back of the neck; a blinding white light blazes all about him with a sound like the shock of a cannon—then all is darkness and silence!

Peyton Farquhar was dead; his body, with a broken neck, swung gently from side to side beneath the timbers of the Owl Creek bridge.

Study and Discussion Questions

1.
How does Bierce work to make us think Farquhar’s imagined escape is real? What hints are there along the way that it is in fact imaginary?

2.
Trace Bierce’s manipulation of point of view throughout the story. What does it accomplish? Why does Bierce narrate the events leading up to the hanging in a flashback in Part II rather than at the beginning of the story?

3.
Characterize the way Bierce describes the hanging proceedings in the first two paragraphs. Compare it to the way he describes Farquhar’s imaginary escape. What does this contrast in style suggest?

4.
Why do you think Bierce, who himself volunteered to fight on the Union side in the Civil War, makes his hero a Southern planter, a slave owner, 
a supporter of the Confederates? How does this choice shape the kind of statement the story makes about war?

Suggestions for Writing

1.
One critic has argued that the story makes fun of “the orthodox war yarn in which the hero’s death or survival is noble and significant.” Interpret the story taking this statement as your thesis. (You might begin by reexamining the characterization of Farquhar in Part II.)

2.
How would you go about making a film of this story? How would you handle the shifts in point of view, the flashback, and the imaginary nature of Farquhar’s escape? (If you’ve seen and remember a film version, discuss how well you think it does the job.)

TONI MORRISON (b. 1931)

Novelist Toni Morrison grew up in Lorain, Ohio, and attended Howard and Cornell Universities. She has taught at Howard, at the State University of New York at Albany, at Princeton, and elsewhere. As a senior editor at Random House, she supported the work of a number of other African American writers. Her writing includes the novels The Bluest Eye (1970), Sula (1973), Song of Solomon (1977), Tar Baby (1981), Beloved (1987), Jazz (1992), and Paradise (1998). She also wrote the critical work Playing in the Dark: Whiteness and the Literary Imagination (1992) and edited the collection Race-ing Justice, En-Gendering Power: Essays on Anita Hill, Clarence Thomas, and the Construction of Social Reality (1992). In 1993, Morrison received the Nobel Prize in literature.

1919*
(1973)
Except for World War II, nothing ever interfered with the celebration of National Suicide Day. It had taken place every January third since 1920, although Shadrack, its founder, was for many years the only celebrant. Blasted and permanently astonished by the events of 1917, he had returned to Medallion handsome but ravaged, and even the most fastidious people in the town sometimes caught themselves dreaming of what he must have been like a few years back before he went off to war. A young man of hardly twenty, his head full of nothing and his mouth recalling the taste of lipstick, Shadrack had found himself in December, 1917, running with his comrades across a field in France. It was his first encounter with the enemy and he didn’t know whether his company was running toward them or away. For several days they had been marching, keeping close to a stream that was frozen at its edges. At one point they crossed it, and no sooner had he stepped foot on the other side than the day was adangle with shouts and explosions. Shellfire was all around him, and though he knew that this was something called it, he could not muster up the proper feeling—the feeling that would accommodate it. He expected to be terrified or exhilarated—to feel something very strong. In fact, he felt only the bite of a nail in his boot, which pierced the ball of his foot whenever he came down on it. The day was cold enough to make his breath visible, and he wondered for a moment at the purity and whiteness of his own breath among the dim, gray explosions surrounding him. He ran, bayonet fixed, deep in the great sweep of men flying across this field. Wincing at the pain in his foot, he turned his head a little to the right and saw the face of a soldier near him fly off. Before he could register shock, the rest of the soldier’s head disappeared under the inverted soup bowl of his helmet. But stubbornly, taking no direction from the brain, the body of the headless soldier ran on, with energy and grace, ignoring altogether the drip and slide of brain tissue down its back.
When Shadrack opened his eyes he was propped up in a small bed. Before him on a tray was a large tin plate divided into three triangles. In one triangle was rice, in another meat, and in the third stewed tomatoes. A small round depression held a cup of whitish liquid. Shadrack stared at the soft colors that filled these triangles: the lumpy whiteness of rice, the quivering blood tomatoes, the grayish-brown meat. All their repugnance was contained in the neat balance of the triangles—a balance that soothed him, transferred some of its equilibrium to him. Thus reassured that the white, the red and the brown would stay where they were—would not explode or burst forth from their restricted zones—he suddenly felt hungry and looked around for his hands. His glance was cautious at first, for he had to be very careful—anything could be anywhere. Then he noticed two lumps beneath the beige blanket on either side of his hips. With extreme care he lifted one arm and was relieved to find his hand attached to his 
wrist. He tried the other and found it also. Slowly he directed one hand toward the cup and, just as he was about to spread his fingers, they began to grow in higgledy-piggledy fashion like Jack’s beanstalk all over the tray and the bed. With a shriek he closed his eyes and thrust his huge growing hands under the covers. Once out of sight they seemed to shrink back to their normal size. But the yell had brought a male nurse.
“Private? We’re not going to have any trouble today, are we? Are we, Private?”

Shadrack looked up at a balding man dressed in a green-cotton jacket and trousers. His hair was parted low on the right side so that some twenty or thirty yellow hairs could discreetly cover the nakedness of his head.

“Come on. Pick up that spoon. Pick it up, Private. Nobody is going to feed you forever.”

Sweat slid from Shadrack’s armpits down his sides. He could not bear to see his hands grow again and he was frightened of the voice in the apple-green suit.

“Pick it up, I said. There’s no point to this . . .” The nurse reached under the cover for Shadrack’s wrist to pull out the monstrous hand. Shadrack jerked it back and overturned the tray. In panic he raised himself to his knees and tried to fling off and away his terrible fingers, but succeeded only in knocking the nurse into the next bed.

When they bound Shadrack into a straitjacket, he was both relieved and grateful, for his hands were at last hidden and confined to whatever size they had attained.

Laced and silent in his small bed, he tried to tie the loose cords in his mind. He wanted desperately to see his own face and connect it with the word 
“private”—the word the nurse (and the others who helped bind him) had called him. “Private” he thought was something secret, and he wondered why they looked at him and called him a secret. Still, if his hands behaved as they had done, what might he expect from his face? The fear and longing were too much for him, so he began to think of other things. That is, he let his mind slip into whatever cave mouths of memory it chose.

He saw a window that looked out on a river which he knew was full of fish. Someone was speaking softly just outside the door . . .

Shadrack’s earlier violence had coincided with a memorandum from the hospital executive staff in reference to the distribution of patients in high-risk areas. There was clearly a demand for space. The priority or the violence earned Shadrack his release, $217 in cash, a full suit of clothes and copies of very 
official-looking papers.

When he stepped out of the hospital door the grounds overwhelmed him: the cropped shrubbery, the edged lawns, the undeviating walks. Shadrack looked at the cement stretches: each one leading clearheadedly to some 
presumably desirable destination. There were no fences, no warnings, no obstacles at all between concrete and green grass, so one could easily ignore the tidy sweep of stone and cut out in another direction—a direction of one’s own.

Shadrack stood at the foot of the hospital steps watching the heads of trees tossing ruefully but harmlessly, since their trunks were rooted too deeply in the earth to threaten him. Only the walks made him uneasy. He shifted his weight, wondering how he could get to the gate without stepping on the concrete. While plotting his course—where he would have to leap, where to skirt a clump of bushes—a loud guffaw startled him. Two men were going up the steps. Then he noticed that there were many people about, and that he was just now seeing them, or else they had just materialized. They were thin slips, like paper dolls floating down the walks. Some were seated in chairs with wheels, propelled by other paper figures from behind. All seemed to be smoking, and their arms and legs curved in the breeze. A good high wind would pull them up and away and they would land perhaps among the tops of the trees.

Shadrack took the plunge. Four steps and he was on the grass heading for the gate. He kept his head down to avoid seeing the paper people swerving and bending here and there, and he lost his way. When he looked up, he was standing by a low red building separated from the main building by a covered walkway. From somewhere came a sweetish smell which reminded him of something painful. He looked around for the gate and saw that he had gone directly 
away from it in his complicated journey over the grass. Just to the left of the low building was a graveled driveway that appeared to lead outside the grounds. He trotted quickly to it and left, at last, a haven of more than a year, only eight days of which he fully recollected.

Once on the road, he headed west. The long stay in the hospital had left him weak—too weak to walk steadily on the gravel shoulders of the road. He shuffled, grew dizzy, stopped for breath, started again, stumbling and sweating but refusing to wipe his temples, still afraid to look at his hands. Passengers in dark, square cars shuttered their eyes at what they took to be a drunken man.

The sun was already directly over his head when he came to a town. A few blocks of shaded streets and he was already at its heart—a pretty, quietly regulated downtown.

Exhausted, his feet clotted with pain, he sat down at the curbside to take off his shoes. He closed his eyes to avoid seeing his hands and fumbled with the laces of the heavy high-topped shoes. The nurse had tied them into a double knot, the way one does for children, and Shadrack, long unaccustomed to the manipulation of intricate things, could not get them loose. Uncoordinated, his fingernails tore away at the knots. He fought a rising hysteria that was not merely anxiety to free his aching feet; his very life depended on the release of the knots. Suddenly without raising his eyelids, he began to cry. Twenty-two years old, weak, hot, frightened, not daring to acknowledge the fact that he didn’t even know who or what he was . . . with no past, no language, no tribe, no source, no address book, no comb, no pencil, no clock, no pocket handkerchief, no rug, no bed, no can opener, no faded postcard, no soap, no key, no tobacco pouch, no soiled underwear and nothing nothing nothing to do . . . he was sure of one thing only: the unchecked monstrosity of his hands. He cried soundlessly at the curbside of a small Midwestern town wondering where the window was, and the river, and the soft voices just outside the door . . .

Through his tears he saw the fingers joining the laces, tentatively at first, then rapidly. The four fingers of each hand fused into the fabric, knotted themselves and zigzagged in and out of the tiny eyeholes.

By the time the police drove up, Shadrack was suffering from a blinding headache, which was not abated by the comfort he felt when the policemen pulled his hands away from what he thought was a permanent entanglement with his shoelaces. They took him to jail, booked him for vagrancy and intoxication, and locked him in a cell. Lying on a cot, Shadrack could only stare helplessly at the wall, so paralyzing was the pain in his head. He lay in this agony for a long while and then realized he was staring at the painted-over letters of a command to fuck himself. He studied the phrase as the pain in his head subsided.

Like moonlight stealing under a window shade an idea insinuated itself: his earlier desire to see his own face. He looked for a mirror; there was none. Finally, keeping his hands carefully behind his back he made his way to the toilet bowl and peeped in. The water was unevenly lit by the sun so he could make nothing out. Returning to his cot he took the blanket and covered his head, rendering the water dark enough to see his reflection. There in the toilet water he saw a grave black face. A black so definite, so unequivocal, it astonished him. He had been harboring a skittish apprehension that he was not real—that he didn’t exist at all. But when the blackness greeted him with its indisputable presence, he wanted nothing more. In his joy he took the risk of letting one edge of the blanket drop and glanced at his hands. They were still. Courteously still. 

Shadrack rose and returned to the cot, where he fell into the first sleep of his new life. A sleep deeper than the hospital drugs; deeper than the pits of plums, steadier than the condor’s wing; more tranquil than the curve of eggs.

The sheriff looked through the bars at the young man with the matted hair. He had read through his prisoner’s papers and hailed a farmer. When Shadrack awoke, the sheriff handed him back his papers and escorted him to the back of a wagon. Shadrack got in and in less than three hours he was back in Medallion, for he had been only twenty-two miles from his window, his river, and his soft voices just outside the door.

In the back of the wagon, supported by sacks of squash and hills of pumpkins, Shadrack began a struggle that was to last for twelve days, a struggle to order and focus experience. It had to do with making a place for fear as a way of controlling it. He knew the smell of death and was terrified of it, for he could not anticipate it. It was not death or dying that frightened him, but the unexpectedness of both. In sorting it all out, he hit on the notion that if one day a year were devoted to it, everybody could get it out of the way and the rest of the year would be safe and free. In this manner he instituted National Suicide Day.

On the third day of the new year, he walked through the Bottom down Carpenter’s Road with a cowbell and a hangman’s rope calling the people together. Telling them that this was their only chance to kill themselves or each other.

At first the people in the town were frightened; they knew Shadrack 
was crazy but that did not mean that he didn’t have any sense or, even more important, that he had no power. His eyes were so wild, his hair so long  and matted, his voice was so full of authority and thunder that he caused panic on the first, or Charter, National Suicide Day in 1920. The next one, in 1921, was less frightening but still worrisome. The people had seen him a year now in between. He lived in a shack on the riverbank that had once belonged to his grandfather long time dead. On Tuesday and Friday he sold the fish he had caught that morning, the rest of the week he was drunk, loud, obscene, funny and outrageous. But he never touched anybody, never fought, never caressed. Once the people understood the boundaries and nature of his madness, they could fit him, so to speak, into the scheme of things.

Then, on subsequent National Suicide Days, the grown people looked out from behind curtains as he rang his bell; a few stragglers increased their speed, and little children screamed and ran. The tetter heads tried goading him (although he was only four or five years older than they) but not for long, for his curses were stingingly personal.

As time went along, the people took less notice of these January thirds, or rather they thought they did, thought they had no attitudes or feelings one way or another about Shadrack’s annual solitary parade. In fact they had simply stopped remarking on the holiday because they had absorbed it into their thoughts, into their language, into their lives. 

Someone said to a friend, “You sure was a long time delivering that baby. How long was you in labor?” 

And the friend answered, “’Bout three days. The pains started on Suicide Day and kept up till the following Sunday. Was borned on Sunday. All my boys is Sunday boys.”

Some lover said to his bride-to-be, “Let’s do it after New Years, ’stead of before. I get paid New Year’s Eve.”

And his sweetheart answered, “OK, but make sure it ain’t on Suicide Day. I ain’t ’bout to be listening to no cowbells whilst the weddin’s going on.”

Somebody’s grandmother said her hens always started a laying of double yolks right after Suicide Day.

Then Reverend Deal took it up, saying the same folks who had sense enough to avoid Shadrack’s call were the ones who insisted on drinking themselves to death or womanizing themselves to death. “May’s well go on with Shad and save the Lamb the trouble of redemption.”

Easily, quietly, Suicide Day became a part of the fabric of life up in the Bottom of Medallion, Ohio.

Study and Discussion Questions

1.
What is Shadrack’s problem with his hands? When, how, and why does this problem end?

2.
The first paragraph of “1919” describes Shadrack’s experience of battle. What are the elements of this experience?

3.
What is National Suicide Day? Why does Shadrack create it?

4.
How do National Suicide Day and Shadrack himself become “part of the fabric of life” in the community?

Suggestions for Writing

1.
Is Shadrack crazy? Make a brief argument either way. Give evidence from the story.

2.
Imagine that you have awakened with “no past, no language, no tribe, no source, no address book, no comb, no pencil, no clock, no pocket handkerchief, no rug, no bed, no can opener, no faded postcard, no soap, no key, no tobacco pouch, no soiled underwear, and nothing nothing nothing to do . . .” What would you do?

3.
What are the essentials with which you construct your own identity? That is, what are the things which, if taken away, would leave you wondering who you are?

YO_KO O_TA (1906–1963)

Yo_ko O_ta was born in Hiroshima, Japan, and moved to Tokyo, where she worked as a reporter and with a number of literary magazines. She was in Hiroshima when the United States dropped the atomic bomb on August 6, 1945. She survived to publish an account of what happened to her, the title of which translates as The City of Corpses.
Fireflies
(1953)
Translated by Ko-ichi Nakagawa.

I

Although I had visited the site the previous morning, I went again the next afternoon to see the stone walls of the ruined castle as they stood facing each other like the sleeves on a kimono.

Whether they used to be one of the castle gates or part of the solid rampart, I couldn’t tell, since only the ruins remained. The obvious assumption was that, unrealistic as it seemed, a section of the otherwise destroyed rampart still stood there.

It was past noon on a June day. I was standing between the two tall stone walls. The earth under my feet was shadowed as in a valley. The wall that I was facing appeared grotesque and on fire whenever I went back to see it. The surface of each stone in the wall, big and small alike, was burning in colors of brown, rusty vermilion and bright red. Summer grass was growing out of the cracks. Yellow flowers were blooming on the grass tips.

There was enough room for people to walk on the top of the wall. The grass and its flowers spread over the whole top. To me this giant wall seemed to brim with a kind of impressive beauty. One of the artists from Tokyo had been struck with the idea of engraving a poem in these burned stones. He wanted to carve the words written by a poet who had killed himself. I understood his intention well enough, and yet I knew about the nightmares that this place had seen.

I had never met the poet Tamiki Hara, but I had read the words written from his soul in “Requiem”.

—Never live for yourself. Live only for the grief of the dead. I told myself again and again—

—Pierce my body, Oh, Grief! Pierce my body, Countless Griefs!—

Several people came from Tokyo to select a place for a monument with Tamiki Hara’s poetry engraved on it. I looked at a few places with them because, luckily or not, I had come to Hiroshima a couple of days before then. They all liked the radiation-burned stone wall, but I didn’t. Only Tamiki Hara and I, with the eyes and souls we had in common, should be able to see the colors of the stone wall in the castle site. The eyes and souls of the visitors from Tokyo, who had never experienced the intense light of radiation, were different from ours.

To me the stones seemed to burn like balls of flame. Or I thought that the stones, retaining the rays of the midday sun, were actually hot. As I had done many times before, I passed my hand over the stone surfaces, feeling for some heat. They weren’t hot, but there was a feeling of brittleness, as if they would soon crumble into fragments. The other sleeve of wall across the way, which had received the full force of the light of the bomb streaming down from the central part of the city, was burned a mottled shade of red. But the part of the wall where the surface had not been exposed to the direct light was not red. Rather, it seemed to be deteriorated and to have taken on the calm gray of a fossil. There was sand spilling out of its broken surface.

The wall was one and a half meters thick. If it had been a human body, it would have been burned up. I couldn’t forget the scenes in which human faces had been burned exactly like this. I thought that the Tamiki Hara poetry monument, if erected here, might take on the same flaming color as the wall. Perhaps it was merely a morbid reaction. Come to think of it, wherever I happened to be in Hiroshima, although seven years had passed since the bombing, my eyes seemed to see only masses of fire and blood everywhere.

The shadow of dusk began to cover part of the stone walls. Evening clouds changed their shapes moment by moment. I thought about the poet who had had to take his own life and tried to relate his death to my own life and death. That was why I stood by the walls. But I had stood there too long, I realized, and I left. The place was deserted. By the moat was a slender willow tree, looking picturesque in its setting. It had caught my eye from the beginning, and I went and crouched down under it, because it looked like a good spot from which to sketch the walls. I put my drawing pad on my knees and opened it. I was not good at drawing, but I somehow managed to catch the shape of each stone in the walls. And then I started writing about the colors of the stones, the green grass, and the small yellow flowers. Two men came along. I saw the light of a cigarette. The men were carrying shovels on their shoulders.

They were probably workmen on their way back from cleaning up after the athletic exposition that had been held on the grounds of the castle site. The men squatted down at the edge of the moat and looked at me writing on my pad. Then they walked past me without a word. After they had passed, one 
of them turned around and asked inquiringly, “Lady?”—with a tone of 
sweetness—“what are you thinking about so seriously?”

The other man turned back, too, after walking a little way past me.

“Good evening,” he said slowly, as if suddenly remembering the expression. I nearly burst out laughing.

“Good evening,” I replied to their backs.

They both stopped and turned around again. Then they said from a distance, “You’re not going to jump in the moat, are you? Leave a note behind? You’re not going to kill yourself?”

“No, I’m not going to kill myself!”

The men walked away laughing. I had no intention of dying the way Tamiki Hara did. And yet, a lurking sense of death was always around me. I was trying to live, but on the other hand there was always the danger of death.

The sun was about to set. The stone walls were sinking into darkness. And yet I was able to make out each stone clearly, as if it were a living being.

I started back toward the makeshift shacks at the former military training ground, which was four or five streets from the downtown area. Turning my back on the stone walls, I began walking. It seemed as though those stone cliffs, turning into flames, were collapsing behind me. The feeling was not a false one. To me that was the ultimate truth.

II

While in Hiroshima, I was staying at my youngest sister Teiko’s house. The place she lived in was not what you would normally call a “house”. I didn’t know the right word for it—a shack, a barrack, some kind of little living unit appropriate to this devastated city.

I understood that it was a makeshift affair, and yet it was not only for temporary use because my sister had been living there for seven years since the war. And it didn’t seem as though she was planning to move into a real house.

“Just once more in my lifetime I’d like to live in a house with running water,” Teiko said. She was thirty-one years old.

“Don’t sound so discouraged. Aren’t there a lot of people who have moved out of these shacks and built new houses somewhere else?”

“No, almost none.”

“Nobody? There are so many people here.”

“I’ve never heard of it happening.”

When the city was reduced to rubble, not a single house was left standing. The makeshift shacks were erected on the training ground, which was still strewn with the bones of numberless soldiers who had been burned to death there. It was strange to think of the shacks going up, a thousand of them in one corner of the training ground, built by the city for the relief of the survivors.

The facilities should have been able to house everybody, since the number of survivors was not that great. But because all the older houses had been destroyed, and because repatriates from abroad and discharged soldiers 
were pouring into the city, the shacks were soon filled up. Teiko, her husband, a junior high teacher, and her two-year-old daughter had managed to move into one of the units. That was at the end of 1946. The shack had two rooms, one designed to be floored with six tatami mats, the other with three mats. But at first the rooms were not even floored with mats because there were too many thieves and beggers around to make off with them. Teiko and her husband 
Soichi, with their little daughter tied onto her back, picked their way along a small path across the desolate army field, the cold wind sweeping over them, to go to the city housing office to pick up their tatami mats. Because all the huts were built to standardized dimensions, it didn’t make any difference which mats and fixtures Teiko and Soichi picked out. They took nine tatami mats and a couple of wooden and glass doors and carried them back on their shoulders. None of the poorly-made tatami mats and doors fitted properly, so they had to wedge and stuff them into place as best they could.

There was no ceiling. The unfinished logs that served as beams formed a triangle that was open to view. Morning sunlight found its way between the wooden beams into the room. Here and there I could see the heads of nails 
and I felt as though I was lying in a log cabin in the mountains. There was a tiny toilet at the end of the open veranda. It looked like something built for 
children—you could imagine it pushing away any grownup who tried to use it. Inside were two rough boards placed over a shallow pot which was fully exposed to view.

And yet these were not slum dwellings. They were all separate units, with spaces in between, and there were rows and rows of them like so many long walls. No matter how harsh the circumstances, people can hardly be expected to put up with communal living for long. Here the occupants at least had their 
separate little roosts where they could guard their own particular secrets from one another. The lines and lines of small shacks were proof of this.

There was only one source of water for the occupants of the huts in Teiko’s row and those opposite them. There had been a water outlet at the Army horse stables, but the pipe had been broken in the bombing. Until the water pipe was repaired, all the families in all one thousand shacks had gone all the way to Sakancho to get water, walking across the training grounds and over Aioi Bridge, right through the area where the bomb had burst. Now, however, the water pipe at the stables had been repaired, and Teiko and the others went back and forth from morning to night to draw water there, carrying their house keys in hand.

One rainy night I came back late. Since there was no real entrance, I could come into the hut from either the front or the back as I pleased. When I called out to Teiko from the back door, I heard someone inside pulling out a nail. Teiko looked at me with her large dark eyes. The corners of her mouth were scarred with keloid marks that stood out like welts. One step in from the outside was the three-mat living room. After I had changed into some dry clothes and sat down at the dilapidated table, my eyes were drawn to a number of slugs creeping around. Teiko put a light supper on the table and sat down across from me to pour the tea.

“Terrible slugs!” I said.

“Yes. We’re trying to get rid of them but they just keep coming.”

Soichi had rigged a clothes closet in one corner of the room. It didn’t have a door but was hung with a tattered curtain. There was a small can full of thick salt water behind the curtain. Teiko took it out and, with a pair of cheap chopsticks, picked up the slugs and dropped them in the can one by one. It gave me a creepy feeling. The slugs slithered around in droves at the base of the sliding paper doors, which did not have the customary rain shutters to protect them. The slugs were even swarming around the legs of the table.

“Where do they come from in such numbers?”

“Every typhoon season we have a lot of rain and that huge area where the training ground was gets completely flooded. No way for the water to drain off. The floors are all rotting.”

“Is it like this in all the houses?”

“Yes. They were all built at the same time. It’s a miracle we’ve managed to stand it here for seven years. We just force ourselves to stay.”

Because Teiko had once lived with a relative in Tokyo for six or seven years, she spoke Tokyo dialect with a Hiroshima accent.

“The roof is made of pressed paper tiles. We used to say we’d be lucky if it lasted three years.”

“There weren’t any slugs when I was here last time, were there? When did they start showing up?”

“About two years ago. They began by creeping around the kitchen sink and shelves, but last year it got like this. From the middle of the rainy season last 

year, they started slithering out one after another even in the other tatami room and climbing up the mosquito net. Mother got up any number of times in the middle of the night and threw them into the salt water can as fast as she could catch them with the chopsticks. It made me feel so sick I couldn’t sleep right until fall came.”

In the six-mat room, my mother and Teiko’s two daughters were asleep. My mother was seventy-four. Teiko’s older daughter was seven. The younger daughter had been born after the A-bomb, proof that Teiko’s reproductive organs had not been impaired by the bomb. This gave our family some measure of relief. My mother, Tsuki, and Teiko’s children were sleeping soundly with their heads together. I didn’t feel hungry because of the slimy slugs creeping around under the table.

“I’m sorry I come back so late every night,” I said to Teiko. “Shall we go to bed now?” Teiko was actually a half-sister, my mother’s child by a different 
marriage.

“All right,” Teiko said, but she did not leave the table.

“I want to talk to you when we have some free time.”

“Me, too. I want to have a nice, long talk with you sometime. You always look so busy that I can’t talk to you even those few times when you come back from Tokyo.”

“Well, shall we talk tonight? But maybe you’re sleepy?”

A slight smile crossed Teiko’s face. When she was young, people considered her pretty, but now she looked worn out. Whenever she smiled, the scars around her lips became distorted and swollen. I had something I wanted to ask her when the chance came. I sat up straight and drank a sip of my tea, which by this time had gotten cold.

“What are you going to do from now on?” I asked, having no choice but to speak in vague terms, “Mother asked me to ask you about this too. When Soichi died, Yu took the trouble to come from Fukuoka, remember? And when Yu suggested that you marry again, you got all upset and wouldn’t talk to him, didn’t you?”

“My husband had just died! Nobody should have said such a thing to me at that time!”

“Of course, you’re right. But maybe he was half joking, the way men do. Mother thinks she understands how you felt then, so she can’t bring herself to talk to you about it. But you know, it’s been three years.”

“The time’s gone by so fast!”

“How do you feel now? You know, women who’ve lost their husbands often say they’d rather remain single for the sake of the children. Do you feel that way too?”

Teiko is the kind who would say she did. And if she said she wanted to 
stay the way she was because of the children, we would all be in an awkward 
position. 

“The way I feel. . . . ,” Teiko began weakly. “I don’t think I could go on alone for the rest of my life, what with two children to raise.”

“I know how you must feel. I think you should marry again.”

“I guess I have no choice. I admire other women who go on alone, but I can’t do it.” 

All of a sudden, tears came to my eyes. Teiko’s confession brought on unexpected thoughts, because even though I was moved by her honest reply, the idea that someone like Teiko, a widow with two children, might be able to find happiness in a second marriage seemed to be, after all, only a dream. We speak of the hardships of a woman’s lot, but this was the first time I had seen them spelled out in concrete terms in the life of one of my own flesh and blood.

“You know, those dark red stone walls you go to look at so often,” said Teiko. “The ones where the Tamiki Hara monument is. I used to walk through there with Konomi on my way to work at the women’s hall at the exposition.”

Konomi was Teiko’s second daughter. She was born shortly before Soichi died. Soichi had asked me to pick out a name for her so I sent the name I had chosen from Tokyo.

“You took Konomi with you to work? Didn’t Mother take care of her?” 

“At first she did. But then Kumi’s eye infection began spreading to everyone else and for a while Mother almost lost her sight altogether. She went groping around the house and bumping into everything. It was too dangerous for Konomi to be here with them. Besides, Mother was in a bad mood, so I left Kumi with her and took the little one with me to work every day.”

I was listening to her and nodding my head.

“I stood at the sales counter all day. It was a cheap place. There was a big board like a door laid on its side and I hung things like shoulder bags, cheap shoes, stationery goods and airplane models on it. I stood there all day. I hated selling models of war planes. Anyway, the customers were all busy complaining about the admission to the exposition being so expensive, so I couldn’t sell very much.”

“Did Konomi play all by herself?”

“She was just beyond the toddling stage, so she fell asleep right away. Of course, there was no real place for a child to sleep. I had to let her sleep right on the ground behind me.”

Teiko paused in her narrative and then went on.

“It was a springtime exposition and very dusty, and a lot of country people came even though there wasn’t much to see. When I was ready to leave and would go to pick up Konomi, she would be completely white with dust. A woman at one of the other counters felt sorry for us and the next day she lent me a reed mat for Konomi to sleep on.”

I could picture the child sleeping innocently on the reed mat on the ground.

“After a little while, my eyes got infected too and I quit working before the exposition closed. I was all right but I felt terrible about the children, worse than I’ve ever felt before. And I was bitter about the death of my husband.”

Soichi didn’t die in the war. He wasn’t even in Hiroshima when the bomb was dropped. He was in Kyushu, after having been drafted for the third time. The troops scheduled to go to Korea were massed at the tip of Kyushu, sitting around idle; they had no arms and there were no ships to take them across. Soichi was suffering from hemorrhoids. They had gotten worse after his second period of military service. He came back from a hospital in Kyushu a month after the war ended. His home was on Nomi Island in the Inland Sea and Teiko, her daughters and Mother and I had been waiting for him there. Then one day Soichi, wearing a dirty white robe and field cap, came strolling down the island path. Mother and I watched him come toward the house. He wasn’t carrying anything in his hands.

“Other men brought back as many things as they could carry in their hands or on their backs. But Soichi didn’t bring back anything at all—not even a can of food or a blanket!” Mother grumbled later when she came to see me in Tokyo.

“It was okay like that,” I told her, but the dissatisfied look in her face did not 
disappear.

Then in October of 1949, Soichi suddenly coughed up blood and ran a continuous high fever. He died almost immediately. At that time, Mother was staying with me in Tokyo. Both Mother and I were sick and, though we several times bought train tickets, we were not well enough to leave for Hiroshima. Mother finally left Tokyo on the twentieth day after his death. I had seen her aging face change drastically as a result of the sorrow she felt for her daughter. In the space of twenty days the brightness went out of her face and she grew gaunt and faded.

Strictly speaking, Soichi was not a war casualty. However, deep inside her, Mother seemed to regard Soichi Ogura as one of those killed in action. I didn’t mention this to Teiko and don’t intend to until she becomes aware of it herself.

“Anyway, for the rest of my life I won’t forget those burned stone walls where Mr. Hara’s monument stands and how Konomi and I went back and forth through there all covered with dust. I agree with you when you say the place is ‘carved with the seal of history.’”

“Those aren’t my words,” I blurted out. “I don’t say such eloquent things. That’s what Mr. A from Tokyo said.”

“Aside from ‘the seal of history’, Mr. A said that every citizen of Hiroshima from every walk of life will go on passing back and forth between those walls forever. I liked that.”

Teiko and I left the three-mat room.

“Oh, look at those slugs! What are things coming to!”

III

I was riding on a streetcar running southeast through the city bound for Ujina. With me was Makoto Kikawa, who had become famous as the first officially recognized victim of the A-bomb. Every day since I had come back to Hiroshima for the first time in three years, I had met with various people and listened to their stories about the aftermath of the bomb. With eyes full of tears, I used to go with somebody like Mr. Kikawa to call on other people. Mr. Kikawa’s eyes always had a dark expression of cynicism, the kind possessed by people who have known great disappointment. They were deeply tinged with enmity.

At certain moments he would show a glimpse of the willful and conceited attitude common among famous people who have been spoiled by others. And yet, he understood all too well that people had made a show of him during his long hospitalization and had almost gotten pleasure out of examining his scarred body. I had seen his keloid-covered body only in a photograph. Of course, I couldn’t ask him to let me see his body. In fact I would be afraid to look at it. But today we were going to Jiai, the city hospital, and it occurred to me that, 
if he took off his clothes in front of the doctor, I might be able to look at his radiation-torn body with a certain degree of detachment.

He kept one hand in his pocket. It was burned and deformed like a crab’s claw.

“If we have time today, would you like to see Miss Mitsuko Takada?” he asked.

“Yes, I would. She lives near the hospital, doesn’t she?”

“Right behind it.”

“Is it all right to visit her without letting her know we’re coming? I wonder what she does for a living.”

“She worked shucking oysters during the winter. I hear she’s running a little store now.”

Kikawa knew a lot about people like Miss Takada who barely managed to survive in Hiroshima and who tried to live away from the public eye, as though they had done something bad. With some purpose in mind, he was making a list of the disabled, collecting their signatures.

“Miss Takada has the worst face I know of,” he said in a matter-of-fact and emotionless tone. After all, for seven years since the end of the war he had seen A-bomb victims day after day and mingled with those who were in much worse condition than himself.

“I think Dr. Yamazaki will be surprised. I told him I’d bring you sometime, but he doesn’t know it’s today. He’s been wanting to see you.”

“Is that so?”

When I came to Hiroshima in 1945, shortly before the end of the war, I had an operation at Jiai Hospital. Dr. Yamazaki was working under the hospital director who operated on me. There was also a young doctor who appears under his real name in John Hersey’s book Hiroshima.1 Kikawa stayed in the hospital for six years after the war. He was there free of charge but he often quarreled with the doctors. He tried to organize the patients who had been wounded in the war into protesting the class discrimination reflected in the treatment given in this and other hospitals at the time. Once he made plans to escape from the hospital and go live under a bridge. But he had been operated on more than thirty times and he couldn’t move around as he liked.

Kikawa had an ulterior motive in mind when he decided to go with me to Jiai Hospital. He felt bad about going there alone but he wanted to get a checkup. So it was convenient for him to visit the hospital with me because, in the past, I had gotten along quite well with all the doctors there. I, too, had another purpose in mind. One of my cousins, Taeko, had spent three and a half years in Jiai Hospital. She was a repatriate from Sariweon, Korea. I had never met her. Because both of her kidneys were tubercular, I thought that if I missed this chance, I would never be able to see my cousin’s face.

The streetcar was moving through the central district of the city. We passed the bank whose stone steps had a human shadow burned into them. It was two hundred meters from ground zero. Near the bank was a new shopping street. From the window of the slowly moving streetcar, I looked at the faces of the strange men standing here and there on the streets. Their seemingly polished faces sported well-groomed beards. They were neatly dressed in bright colored clothes with shoes meticulously shined. These unknown men were a strange breed of Japanese. I had seen them, dressed in smart clothes, their bodies free of wounds, all over Hiroshima. And here and there, among the otherwise drab-looking passengers in the streetcar, were women full of vitality and without a scar, looking as though they must be these men’s companions.

They wore the latest fashions and scattered through their wavy hair were dyed whirls of flaming red. I might have supposed that their hair had been burned by too much hair dryer, but in fact I had seen the same hair style many times before. From time to time, on the trains and streets, I had seen women with part of their hair in flames.

Makoto Kikawa and I got off the streetcar in front of Jiai Hospital.

IV

Kikawa took off his coat in the examining room for Dr. Yamazaki, head of the surgical department. He untied his crimson tie and then removed his shirt.

Item by item he took off his clothes, seeming very much accustomed to what he was doing. Like a machine, he was doing it automatically. Because his hands were deformed, they looked like monkey paws performing the actions. Yet he was quick, without hesitation. I couldn’t look at his face, but my heart was gripped by a stifling indignation.

Probably neither the doctor nor Kikawa himself noticed how skilled his hands were, hands that for six years had learned to take off his clothes item by item so as to exhibit the body in front of countless viewers, Japanese and foreigners alike. I looked at Kikawa’s stomach and back. Tears didn’t come to my eyes. I was beyond tears. Part of the skin on his stomach had been grafted to his back. The scars left on his stomach had all turned to keloid. There was little skin left that could be used for grafting. I wished he would hurry up and put his clothes on again. I didn’t want to look at his stomach and back any more. My purpose was not to look at the survivors in Hiroshima.

“Should I operate a couple more times?” Dr. Yamazaki asked Kikawa, who had just finished dressing.

“It’s not necessary,” said Kikawa with a laugh, waving his hand in a gesture of refusal. “I’ve had enough unless I get skin cancer.”

Dr. Yamazaki avoided talking about skin cancer. He turned to me and 
said, “The other day a reporter came to see me from XX news agency.” He 
mentioned the name of an American newspaper which had dispatched a 
correspondent.

“He wanted to ask me if I thought the Americans should use an A-bomb in the Korean War.”

Dr. Yamazaki, Kikawa and I were sitting in casually arranged chairs in the small room that had been rebuilt after the bomb damage.

“I told him absolutely not! Dr. X was with me and he agreed it would be absolutely wrong. He got quite excited about it.”

X was the young doctor that John Hersey had written about in Hiroshima.

“He asked me how I felt now about the Americans dropping the bomb on Hiroshima. I said maybe the bombing of Hiroshima couldn’t have been helped if it was necessary to end the war. But since they must have been able to see the terrible damage from the air, they were absolutely wrong to drop the second bomb on Nagasaki. Then Dr. X got very angry again and said that both bombs were wrong, that dropping the first one on Hiroshima was absolutely wrong, too.”

“Right! That’s exactly right!” I blurted out. “It would have been wrong even to use it to end the war, but that wasn’t why they used it. They used it in a hurry because they were afraid of losing their military balance of power with the Soviet Union. It was the first step in their present world policy.”

“Do you know how many people were killed in Hiroshima?”

“How many?”

“Five hundred thousand.”

I had seen the same figure somewhere else. It was in the newspaper in Hiroshima. I was not surprised that the figures from the newspaper and the hospital matched.

The doctor spread a piece of paper on the desk. He got a pencil and started drawing something. He drew a castle in the background of the picture. Beside the castle he wrote “divisional headquarters.” I thought next he would sketch those stone walls attached to the castle and start writing Tamiki Hara’s poetry there, but I was wrong. Instead, he drew several rectangles and put letters in each one.

“This is the army hospital, this is the second annex building, and this the 
first annex. Next to it is the artillery, and here are the first and second west units. And here is the transport corps. There must have been a couple of temporary hospitals, too.”

The doctor, himself a victim of the A-bomb, announced in the candid manner of a surgeon, “Almost all the soldiers in this building that morning were killed instantly.”

For a while I stared at the rectangle that the doctor had drawn on the white paper for the first west unit. One of my brothers-in-law had died there. None of his bones were recovered. As I remembered our childhood together, his shiny white teeth flashed through my mind.

“There were seven hundred thousand people in Hiroshima that day.”

“That many? I thought there were only four hundred thousand and two-thirds of them were killed.”

“The army personnel weren’t included in the count. It was casually announced that such and such units were stationed in such and such places, and there were a lot of people going in and out at that time. At Mutual Benefit Hospital alone, there were five thousand people, and most of them were killed. The figure, five thousand reminds me that the Germans used a poison gas on the Ypres front for the first time during World War I. Five thousand soldiers were killed in three days as a result of the chlorine gas. Because it was such a cruel weapon, it became an international issue and then someone put forward a proposal to ban the use of poison gas.”

Dr. Yamazaki spoke in a voice heavy with emotion. Then he added, “America didn’t ratify the ban on poison gas at that time.”

Kikawa had been resting his back against the window frame as he listened to Dr. Yamazaki. In a low, indifferent-sounding voice, he said, “The office at ground zero is now registering the names of A-bomb victims and putting together statistics. I hear they are surprised at the number of people who were killed.”

The general assumption that two hundred thousand perished instantly was no exaggeration. However, that figure had for the sake of convenience been too quickly accepted as definitive. The figure was a miscalculation because all it meant was that some two hundred thousand people had died instantly. The 
citizens who failed to die that first day had died one after another in the days that followed. For months and years, people died in great numbers, until there were almost as many delayed deaths as there had been instantaneous deaths.

It had started raining. We decided to visit Mitsuko Takada at once.

“I’m not using my car, so why don’t you take it?” the surgeon said. “Mr. Kikawa, you could go with her to Motomachi.”

I decided to borrow Dr. Yamazaki’s small car because of the rain. The thought of visiting my cousin came to mind for a moment, but there was no time to mention it. Kikawa and I drove through the rain in the small car.

At the foot of a bridge misty with rain, a makeshift wooden building, painted pale blue, came into view.

“There it is!”

Even before Kikawa pointed it out, I had guessed that it must be Mitsuko’s house. It was a little bread and milk store, which had the friendly, inviting look peculiar to this town. From the car, I could see bread, candy, soft drinks and milk in a showcase in the middle of the dirt floor. Inside was a man in his fifties, his hair getting thin. I caught a glimpse of the back of a girl in a shabby, black dress, but she disappeared through a door in the rear of the store.

“She’s changing her clothes,” the elderly man said to me and smiled good-naturedly after Kikawa had spoken to him. Seating myself on a board at the foot of the entrance and holding the gift I had brought in my lap, I waited for the girl. Then she appeared and my breath stopped. This small girl must have been the one I saw in the black dress going inside.

It was not a girl but a monstrosity. Her deformed face and hands stood out 
even more grotesquely because she had put on her best clothes, a pure white blouse and a skirt with a flower pattern in crisp white. It seemed as though she was deliberately thrusting herself at me. Her face was expressionless and 
she didn’t even greet me. I broke down weeping, slumped on the wooden board, shuddering but unable to stop my tears. I wished I could stand up, reach out to the monstrous body of the young woman and embrace it. However, Japanese people, and I especially, are not accustomed to expressing their emotions in that way.

I still couldn’t stop weeping, sobbing loudly, my face pressed to the wooden board. The brazen instincts of the writer deserted me and I was no more than a plain, defenseless human being. The girl, standing motionless in the middle of the dirt floor, was observing me. Then she came nearer.

“It’s all right. I’ve learned to accept it,” Mitsuko said, and lifted me up in her arms. I was going to say, “Don’t accept it!” but the words wouldn’t come out. Still sobbing, I placed the gift in Mitsuko’s hands. Her fingers were burned exactly the same as Kikawa’s and they bent inward. The skin was shriveled and dark brown.

“I’m sorry,” I said, continuing to cry. “I’m not a reporter, but because I’m a novelist I came here to ask you a few questions. I have a pad and pencil in my handbag. But I can’t ask you anything today. . . .”

Mitsuko, who was young enough to be my daughter, said gently, “Would you like some milk?” She poured milk from a bottle into a glass and brought it to me with a straw. Kikawa, sitting in a chair, was drinking a bottle of soda pop. I was still feeling deeply depressed, and I thought I would become ill if I lived through many more tear-filled days like this one.

“Why don’t you come inside and sit down and relax,” Mitsuko said, seeming to open up to me, probably because I was crying so hard and because I had told her that I wouldn’t ask her any questions. Pushing open a door, she led Kikawa and me into a room overlooking the river. The floor was tilted, the ceiling seemed about to fall in, and the walls were crumbling.

“Half of this house almost fell into the river that day. Later we pulled it back up and repaired it so we could at least sleep here,” her father, the elderly man we had seen earlier, explained as he sat down beside me.

The mouth of an inlet near Ujina Bay was barely visible in the rain. Then he started talking about things I wanted to know.

“My daughter’s face got like this when she was fourteen. I want her to have some operations or something as soon as possible, but she’s only nineteen now. She’s still a child and the doctor said it wouldn’t be any good for her to have operations now while she’s still growing. That’s why we’ve put it off.”

“Please give her the chance to have an operation as soon as possible, so she can get better, even a little. . . .”

“We raise oysters in Ujina Bay and every year the typhoons practically wipe them out. Oyster farming’s our business, but if the beds are destroyed we have no way to get through the following year. So there’s not enough money, even though we want her to have operations.”

I wanted to get the conversation off such grim topics. Turning to Mitsuko, I asked, “About the oyster beds—can anyone farm oysters?” 

Mitsuko, who had not shed a tear in my presence, replied in an ordinary tone of voice, with no trace of gloom.

“Oyster beds are like farm land—you buy so many lots. So you can’t just go on and on buying lots.”

Kikawa smiled. “So when they’re wiped out, it’s like losing a year’s worth of crops. That’s pretty bad!”

I leaned over the railing of the window for a while and gazed at the line where the sea and the river meet, my favorite kind of scenery. Then I drew a rough map showing how to get to Teiko’s house and handed it to Mitsuko.

“I’ll come again but please stop by when you feel like it.”

“I will. I’ll bring some fish from my father’s catch,” Mitsuko replied quickly.

The rain was coming down harder. Shortly after we had gotten into the car and started off, Kikawa asked thoughtfully, “What do you think about this idea? I’m planning to take the signatures of the A-bomb sufferers to General MacArthur’s Headquarters in Tokyo.2 Maybe they would contribute some money for rehabilitation. I want to go right away if possible.”

“Don’t do it!” I said, “The more you look to them for help, the more you’ll be disappointed. If they had had any thought about the sufferings of A-bomb victims, they wouldn’t have dropped such a thing in the first place!”

“You don’t think it would work?”

I had in mind an article I’d read in a newspaper. It was about a women’s group that organized a protest against the raising of electricity rates. They went to see the director of resources at General Headquarters and asked him to support the movement, but all he did was shout at them, “It’s only been forty years since Japan first began using electricity. Electricity is a luxury for you! If you don’t 
like the rate hike, then get some candles!” I didn’t know whether that’s actually what happened, but I told Kikawa the story anyway because it seemed symbolic to me.

“Is that so?” he said, “But I’ll go at least once. Regardless of what happens, I intend to.”

“I sometimes think I should take ten girls like Mitsuko Takada and stand them in line so those people could see their faces. But I don’t know how they’d react.”

The heavy rain continued to beat down on the small car.

V

Since I had been staying up late almost every night, I was still in bed a little before noon. Someone seemed to have come. I thought I heard the clear voice of a young woman calling from the dirt floored area, one step in from outside, that served as the entrance hall to Teiko’s shack, and then I thought I heard my mother’s voice. And yet after that the house was silent.

Teiko was not at home because of her work and Kumi was at school. I started dozing off again when I heard my mother sobbing. It sounded as though her chest were choked with pain. Her weeping continued for some time. Then she came and knelt down beside where I was sleeping.

“Miss Takada, the one you told me about, is here.”

“All right.”

I got up quickly and took off my night clothes. With my mother’s help I folded up the bedding.

“You’ve told me about her, but what an awful face she has! So sad I couldn’t help crying. . . .” She continued to weep as she put the bedding away. Mitsuko came in. She was wearing the same white skirt with the flower pattern that I had seen last time, along with a white jacket. Her outfit was very cheery. But her walk lacked the carefree ease common to young women her age. The radiation had burned and shriveled even her toes, so that Mitsuko walked like a cripple, with a tottering gait.

“I’ve brought you something you might like.”

As soon as she came into the six-mat room and sat down, she untied the knot of the bundle she was carrying. With her twisted brown fingers, she pulled open the purple wrapping cloth.

“What is it?”

I unwrapped the newspaper from around the bundle, not expecting to find anything of great value. When I finally got it all open I discovered it was full of river crabs.

“My father and I caught them in the river and boiled them. Please eat them if you’d like.”

“Thank you.’’

I remembered that my aunt had died suddenly at the age of twenty-nine after eating river crabs, but I could hardly tell Mitsuko that. Mitsuko said she was going to a Shochiku musical show today because she had gotten a ticket through the storekeepers’ association she belonged to. The troupe was performing at the new culture center that had been built on a burned-out field in the old military ground.

“Miss Sacko Ozuki is performing with the troupe. The show starts at one o’clock, so I wanted to come to see you before that.”

I felt odd when I thought of this girl’s face among the audience watching Sacko Ozuki dance with the Shochiku troupe.

“Then why don’t you have lunch here?”

“Thank you but I brought a box lunch. Still, maybe I won’t go to the center. I guess I won’t.”

“Why not?”

“I don’t feel like going anymore.”

“You don’t want to be stared at, is that it?”

I pressed ahead with more questions. I felt that I was trying to win the heart of a little girl. The calculations of the writer consciously rose in my mind. By making friends with this young girl, I’ll be able to understand what’s in the 
bottom of her heart. But, as though to transcend such calculations, my mind adopted a cool approach.

“I don’t mind them looking at my face. I go alone to movie theaters without any hesitation and I walk proudly down the center of the main street,” she said. It was a sad statement.

“At the spring festival held by the storekeepers’ association this year, I got up on stage and danced. I knew it made the other people feel uneasy, but still I went up on the stage with this face. . . .”

She paused for a moment.

“I was dancing around, laughing and crying, and I thought I must look like a monkey or an ogre or something. Then the audience started crying out loud.”

My eyes were full of tears. And yet Mitsuko’s were dry. She didn’t shed a single tear. She seemed to be trying to take revenge on somebody. Mitsuko talked in bursts, with short pauses in between.

“For a while I was going to church. I’d heard they would save people. But not people like me. Because we don’t have any real intention of looking to them for help.”

“So you quit going? Why?”

“A foreign lady was coming to the church and she always stared at my hands with a sorrowful expression on her face. And then she went to a lot of trouble and made a pair of gloves out of red yarn specially designed to fit my hands. After that, I quit going to church once and for all.”

Two-year-old Konomi came in with a candy bowl full of rice crackers and put it down between Mitsuko and me. Konomi sat down and stared at Mitsuko’s face without blinking.

“I guess there must be different kinds of foreign ladies. Another lady took a couple of pictures of me and then she turned aside and started looking for something in her handbag. She pulled out fifty or sixty yen and pressed it on me. I didn’t want to take the money, but then her interpreter said I should because refusing it would be even ruder than accepting.”

“Maybe they don’t know anything about Japanese money.”

“Yes, they do. Some people slip about twenty yen or more into my hand. They think I’m some kind of exhibition from the zoo. It’s written on their faces.”

As I grew accustomed to looking at her face, I realized that there was a 
certain expression in her eyes, where the skin around them was burned 
and stretched vertically. Her eyes were calm and seemed to be smiling 
gently.

“My eye is shining, isn’t it?”

“Shining?”

“After that day, this eye shines more than the other. I can feel it myself.”

Then, after being silent for a while, she said, “I want to be a gentle person.”

“What would you like to do in the future?”

“I want to grow up fast and help people who’re having a hard time. I wish I could be thirty years old right now. I keep thinking about it.”

Mother fixed lunch for two. Konomi tried to lift up the table with a childish grunt. Mother and Konomi together brought in the food. Mitsuko spilled rice when she ate. Her lips were askew and the lower lip, having lost its natural shape, dropped in an unsightly fashion. Any kind of food was bound to drop out of her mouth. She had no choice but to push it down her throat as she ate. After eating only a little, she put her chopsticks down on the table.

“Don’t you have to go to see Sacko Ozuki?”

“I don’t feel like going today,” she said. “If you don’t mind, I’d rather spend some more time with you.”

I took her for a walk. I had an impulse to take this monster-like Mitsuko and parade around town with her. And yet I found myself walking in the direction of the deserted places.

“Shall we go to the old castle site?”

“All right.”

Between the rows of makeshift huts such as the one Teiko lived in, summer flowers were blooming here and there along the narrow paths. Every shack had flowers and vegetables growing in its fenced-in yard. They seemed to be a sign that people don’t want to die but just want to go on living.

The water in the moat was stagnant and green, with duckweed floating on the surface. We came to the stone wall. The stones looked as though they were burning. They were on fire with bright and rusty reds, light greens and faint yellows burning in a melancholy fashion, like the printed cotton of olden times.

“Right here they’re going to put up a monument to a poet who committed suicide.”

“I read about him in the paper. Why did he commit suicide?”

“Nobody really understands about suicide. Some people say Tamiki Hara had suicidal tendencies anyway, even if he hadn’t been terrified by memories of the bomb. Maybe they’re right. But I can’t help but think that Mr. Hara’s suicide had something to do with the A-bomb,” I added, as though talking to myself. “As long as ‘Summer Flower’, ‘Requiem’ and ‘The Land of Heart’s Desire’ exist,” I said, naming some of Tamiki Hara’s works, “I have to think so.”

“When the monument is erected,” I said, “please come here sometime to see it. I can’t come here that often from Tokyo.”

“I’ll certainly pay a visit on your behalf every August 6.”

“The anniversary of his death is March 13th. Will you remember that 
for me?”

Mitsuko and I walked across the former training ground toward the downtown area. We came to the streetcar stop at Aioi Bridge. Without any real purpose in mind, we got on a streetcar.

I got back to Teiko’s house after dark. The smell of grass filled the space between the rows of huts. I used the old horse trough as a landmark in finding my way to Teiko’s shack. A firefly flickered in the grass.

The fireflies were not big enough to fly yet. I squatted down. Here and there the slender fireflies were flashing their lights in the clumps of grass. I picked 
one up.

“Mr. Soldier!” I said. “You must be the ghost of a dead soldier. Can’t you break away? Shortly after you people died, the war ended. You’re not soldiers anymore, so fly! Fly up high!”

I tried tossing the firefly high up into the air. It floated down lightly. Down in the grass, all the fireflies were glowing.

It seemed to me that it was not only the fireflies that were the ghosts of the dead soldiers. I came to feel the same about the slugs that slithered around the shack from evening till late at night. Even after Mother, Teiko and the children had fallen asleep, I was still awake. The three-mat room was like a house for slugs. I said to them, “You must have been soldiers. You come here every night because you have something you want to say. Can’t you ever rest in peace?”

That is a frank expression of the way I felt.

Study and Discussion Questions

1.
Why does the story begin with the tall stone walls of a ruined castle? What other things in the first section of the story come to be associated with the walls?

2.
When and where is “Fireflies” set?

3.
What does the narrator say about her sister’s house where she is visiting; why does she keep mentioning the slugs?

4.
List examples of fire imagery in the story.

5.
Why does o–ta give her readers two separate examples of people physically affected by the atomic bomb? What is she doing with each example?

6.
How does Mitsuko Takada, the young girl injured and disabled by radiation, feel about herself and her life? What is her response to the foreign woman who makes gloves for her and to the woman who gives her money?

Suggestions for Writing

1.
What is the response of the narrator (who is a writer) to what she sees in Hiroshima—the physical setting, the people, her relatives? To what extent is she a part of it or detached from it? She says at one point, “the brazen instincts of the writer deserted me.” What does she mean by this? Does she change in the course of the narrative?

2.
Have you ever been disabled or physically challenged, even temporarily (by a broken arm or leg, for example)? Write about the experience.

3.
Do you think the United States was justified in dropping atomic bombs on Hiroshima and Nagasaki? Write an argument for or against.

4.
If, for the sake of argument, war is necessary, can you propose a way to engage in war that wouldn’t make civilians (noncombatants) suffer?

LOUISE ERDRICH (b. 1954)

Daughter of a German immigrant and a Chippewa Indian, Louise Erdrich grew up in North Dakota and attended Dartmouth College and Johns Hopkins University. She has taught at several universities and also worked as a beet weeder, waitress, psychiatric aide, and poetry teacher in prisons. “The Red Convertible” is one of fourteen related stories that make up her first novel, Love Medicine (1984). Among her other novels are The Beet Queen (1986), Tracks (1988), The Crown of Columbus (1991), cowritten with her late husband Michael Dorris, A Link With the River (1989), The Blue Jay’s Dance (1995), and The Antelope Wife (1998). Her poetry includes Jacklight (1984) and Baptism of Desire (1989).

The Red Convertible 
(1984)

I was the first one to drive a convertible on my reservation. And of course it was red, a red Olds. I owned that car along with my brother Henry Junior. We owned it together until his boots filled with water on a windy night and he bought out my share. Now Henry owns the whole car, and his younger brother Lyman (that’s myself), Lyman walks everywhere he goes.

How did I earn enough money to buy my share in the first place? My one talent was I could always make money. I had a touch for it, unusual in a Chippewa. From the first I was different that way, and everyone recognized it. I was the only kid they let in the American Legion Hall to shine shoes, for example, and one Christmas I sold spiritual bouquets for the mission door to door. The nuns let me keep a percentage. Once I started, it seemed the more money I made 
the easier the money came. Everyone encouraged it. When I was fifteen I got 
a job washing dishes at the Joliet Café, and that was where my first big break happened.

It wasn’t long before I was promoted to bussing tables, and then the short-order cook quit and I was hired to take her place. No sooner than you know it I was managing the Joliet. The rest is history. I went on managing. I soon become part owner, and of course there was no stopping me then. It wasn’t long before the whole thing was mine.

After I’d owned the Joliet for one year, it blew over in the worst tornado ever seen around here. The whole operation was smashed to bits. A total loss. The fryalator was up in a tree, the grill torn in half like it was paper. I was only sixteen. I had it all in my mother’s name, and I lost it quick, but before I lost it I had every one of my relatives, and their relatives, to dinner, and I also bought that red Olds I mentioned, along with Henry.

The first time we saw it! I’ll tell you when we first saw it. We had gotten a ride up to Winnipeg, and both of us had money. Don’t ask me why, because we never mentioned a car or anything, we just had all our money. Mine was cash, a big bankroll from the Joliet’s insurance. Henry had two checks—a week’s extra pay for being laid off, and his regular check from the Jewel Bearing Plant.

We were walking down Portage anyway, seeing the sights, when we saw 
it. There it was, parked, large as life. Really as if it was alive. I thought of the word repose, because the car wasn’t simply stopped, parked, or whatever. That car reposed, calm and gleaming, a for sale sign in its left front window. Then, before we had thought it over at all, the car belonged to us and our pockets were empty. We had just enough money for gas back home.

We went places in that car, me and Henry. We took off driving all one whole summer. We started off toward the Little Knife River and Mandaree in Fort Berthold and then we found ourselves down in Wakpala somehow, and then suddenly we were over in Montana on the Rocky Boys, and yet the summer was not even half over. Some people hang on to details when they travel, but we didn’t let them bother us and just lived our everyday lives here to there.

I do remember this one place with willows. I remember I laid under those trees and it was comfortable. So comfortable. The branches bent down all around me like a tent or a stable. And quiet, it was quiet, even though there was a powwow close enough so I could see it going on. The air was not too still, not too windy either. When the dust rises up and hangs in the air around the dancers like that, I feel good. Henry was asleep with his arms thrown wide. Later on, he woke up and we started driving again. We were somewhere in Montana, or maybe on the Blood Reserve—it could have been anywhere. Anyway it was where we met the girl.

All her hair was in buns around her ears, that’s the first thing I noticed about her. She was posed alongside the road with her arm out, so we stopped. That girl was short, so short her lumber shirt looked comical on her, like a nightgown. She had jeans on and fancy moccasins and she carried a little suitcase.

“Hop on in,” says Henry. So she climbs in between us.

“We’ll take you home,” I says. “Where do you live?”

“Chicken,” she says.

“Where the hell’s that?” I ask her.

“Alaska.”

“Okay,” says Henry, and we drive.

We got up there and never wanted to leave. The sun doesn’t truly set there in summer, and the night is more a soft dusk. You might doze off, sometimes, but before you know it you’re up again, like an animal in nature. You never feel like you have to sleep hard or put away the world. And things would grow up there. One day just dirt or moss, the next day flowers and long grass. The girl’s name was Susy. Her family really took to us. They fed us and put us up. We had our own tent to live in by their house, and the kids would be in and out of there all day and night. They couldn’t get over me and Henry being brothers, we looked so different. We told them we knew we had the same mother, anyway.

One night Susy came in to visit us. We sat around in the tent talking of this thing and that. The season was changing. It was getting darker by that time, and the cold was even getting just a little mean. I told her it was time for us to go. She stood up on a chair.

“You never seen my hair,” Susy said.

That was true. She was standing on a chair, but still, when she unclipped her buns the hair reached all the way to the ground. Our eyes opened. You couldn’t tell how much hair she had when it was rolled up so neatly. Then my brother Henry did something funny. He went up to the chair and said, “Jump on my shoulders.” So she did that, and her hair reached down past his waist, and he started twirling, this way and that, so her hair was flung out from side to side.

“I always wondered what it was like to have long pretty hair,” Henry says. Well we laughed. It was a funny sight, the way he did it. The next morning we got up and took leave of those people.

On to greener pastures, as they say. It was down through Spokane and across Idaho then Montana and very soon we were racing the weather right along under the Canadian border through Columbus, Des Lacs, and then we were in Bottineau County and soon home. We’d made most of the trip, that summer, without putting up the car hood at all. We got home just in time, it turned out, for the army to remember Henry had signed up to join it.

I don’t wonder that the army was so glad to get my brother that they turned him into a Marine. He was built like a brick outhouse anyway. We liked to tease him that they really wanted him for his Indian nose. He had a nose big and sharp as a hatchet, like the nose on Red Tomahawk, the Indian who killed Sitting Bull, whose profile is on signs all along the North Dakota highways. Henry went off to training camp, came home once during Christmas, then the next thing you know we got an overseas letter from him. It was 1970, and he said he was stationed up in the northern hill country. Whereabouts I did not know. He wasn’t such a hot letter writer, and only got off two before the enemy caught him. I could never keep it straight, which direction those good Vietnam soldiers were from.

I wrote him back several times, even though I didn’t know if those letters would get through. I kept him informed all about the car. Most of the time I had it up on blocks in the yard or half taken apart, because that long trip did a hard job on it under the hood.

I always had good luck with numbers, and never worried about the draft myself. I never even had to think about what my number was. But Henry was never lucky in the same way as me. It was at least three years before Henry came home. By then I guess the whole war was solved in the government’s mind, but for him it would keep on going. In those years I’d put his car into almost perfect shape. I always thought of it as his car while he was gone, even though when he left he said, “Now it’s yours,” and threw me his key.

“Thanks for the extra key,” I’d said. “I’ll put it up in your drawer just in case I need it.” He laughed.

When he came home, though, Henry was very different, and I’ll say this: the change was no good. You could hardly expect him to change for the better, I know. But he was quiet, so quiet, and never comfortable sitting still anywhere but always up and moving around. I thought back to times we’d sat still for whole afternoons, never moving a muscle, just shifting our weight along the ground, talking to whoever sat with us, watching things. He’d always had a joke, then, too, and now you couldn’t get him to laugh, or when he did it was more the sound of a man choking, a sound that stopped up the throats of other people around him. They got to leaving him alone most of the time, and I didn’t blame them. It was a fact: Henry was jumpy and mean.

I’d bought a color TV set for my mom and the rest of us while Henry was away. Money still came very easy. I was sorry I’d ever bought it though, because of Henry. I was also sorry I’d bought color, because with black-and-white the pictures seem older and farther away. But what are you going to do? He sat in front of it, watching it, and that was the only time he was completely still. But it was the kind of stillness that you see in a rabbit when it freezes and before it will bolt. He was not easy. He sat in his chair gripping the armrests with all his might, as if the chair itself was moving at a high speed and if he let go at all he would rocket forward and maybe crash right through the set.

Once I was in the room watching TV with Henry and I heard his teeth click at something. I looked over, and he’d bitten through his lip. Blood was going down his chin. I tell you right then I wanted to smash that tube to pieces. I went over to it but Henry must have known what I was up to. He rushed from his chair and shoved me out of the way, against the wall. I told myself he didn’t know what he was doing.

My mom came in, turned the set off real quiet, and told us she had made something for supper. So we went and sat down. There was still blood going down Henry’s chin, but he didn’t notice it and no one said anything, even though every time he took a bite of his bread his blood fell onto it until he was eating his own blood mixed in with the food.

While Henry was not around we talked about what was going to happen to him. There were no Indian doctors on the reservation, and my mom was afraid of trusting Old Man Pillager because he courted her long ago and was jealous of her husbands. He might take revenge through her son. We were afraid that if we brought Henry to a regular hospital they would keep him.

“They don’t fix them in those places,” Mom said; “they just give them drugs.”

“We wouldn’t get him there in the first place,” I agreed, “so let’s just forget about it.”

Then I thought about the car.

Henry had not even looked at the car since he’d gotten home, though like I said, it was in tip-top condition and ready to drive. I thought the car might bring the old Henry back somehow. So I bided my time and waited for my chance to interest him in the vehicle.

One night Henry was off somewhere. I took myself a hammer. I went out to that car and I did a number on its underside. Whacked it up. Bent the tail pipe double. Ripped the muffler loose. By the time I was done with the car it looked worse than any typical Indian car that has been driven all its life on reservation roads, which they always say are like government promises—full of holes. It just about hurt me, I’ll tell you that! I threw dirt in the carburetor and I ripped all the electric tape off the seats. I made it look just as beat up as I could. Then I sat back and waited for Henry to find it.

Still, it took him over a month. That was all right, because it was just getting warm enough, not melting, but warm enough to work outside.

“Lyman,” he says, walking in one day, “that red car looks like shit.”

‘Well it’s old,” I says. “You got to expect that.”

“No way!” says Henry. “That car’s a classic! But you went and ran the piss right out of it, Lyman, and you know it don’t deserve that. I kept that car in 
A-one shape. You don’t remember. You’re too young. But when I left, that car was running like a watch. Now I don’t even know if I can get it to start again, let alone get it anywhere near its old condition.”

“Well you try,” I said, like I was getting mad, “but I say it’s a piece of junk.”

Then I walked out before he could realize I knew he’d strung together more than six words at once.

After that I thought he’d freeze himself to death working on that car. He was out there all day, and at night he rigged up a little lamp, ran a cord out the window, and had himself some light to see by while he worked. He was better than he had been before, but that’s still not saying much. It was easier for him to do the things the rest of us did. He ate more slowly and didn’t jump up and down during the meal to get this or that or look out the window. I put my hand in the back of the TV set, I admit, and fiddled around with it good, so that it was almost impossible now to get a clear picture. He didn’t look at it very often anyway. He was always out with that car or going off to get parts for it. By the time it was really melting outside, he had it fixed. 

I had been feeling down in the dumps about Henry around this time. We had always been together before. Henry and Lyman. But he was such a loner now that I didn’t know how to take it. So I jumped at the chance one day when Henry seemed friendly. It’s not that he smiled or anything. He just said, “Let’s take 
that old shitbox for a spin.” Just the way he said it made me think he could be coming around.

We went out to the car. It was spring. The sun was shining very bright. My only sister, Bonita, who was just eleven years old, came out and made us stand together for a picture. Henry leaned his elbow on the red car’s windshield, and he took his other arm and put it over my shoulder, very carefully, as though it was heavy for him to lift and he didn’t want to bring the weight down all at once.

“Smile,” Bonita said, and he did.

That picture. I never look at it anymore. A few months ago, I don’t know why, I got his picture out and tacked it on the wall. I felt good about Henry at the time, close to him. I felt good having his picture on the wall, until one night when I was looking at television. I was a little drunk and stoned. I looked up at the wall and Henry was staring at me. I don’t know what it was, but his smile had changed, or maybe it was gone. All I know is I couldn’t stay in the same room with that picture. I was shaking. I got up, closed the door, and went into the kitchen. A little later my friend Ray came over and we both went back into that room. We put the picture in a brown bag, folded the bag over and over tightly, then put it way back in a closet.

I still see that picture now, as if it tugs at me, whenever I pass that closet door. The picture is very clear in my mind. It was so sunny that day Henry had to squint against the glare. Or maybe the camera Bonita held flashed like a mirror, blinding him, before she snapped the picture. My face is right out in the sun, big and round. But he might have drawn back, because the shadows on his face are deep as holes. There are two shadows curved like little hooks around the ends of his smile, as if to frame it and try to keep it there—that one, first smile that looked like it might have hurt his face. He has his field jacket on and the worn-in clothes he’d come back in and kept wearing ever since. After Bonita took the picture, she went into the house and we got into the car. There was a full cooler in the trunk. We started off, east, toward Pembina and the Red River because Henry said he wanted to see the high water.

The trip over there was beautiful. When everything starts changing, drying up, clearing off, you feel like your whole life is starting. Henry felt it, too. The top was down and the car hummed like a top. He’d really put it back in shape, even the tape on the seats was very carefully put down and glued back in layers. It’s not that he smiled again or even joked, but his face looked to me as if it was clear, more peaceful. It looked as though he wasn’t thinking of anything in particular except the bare fields and windbreaks and houses we were passing.

The river was high and full of winter trash when we got there. The sun was still out, but it was colder by the river. There were still little clumps of dirty snow here and there on the banks. The water hadn’t gone over the banks yet, but it would, you could tell. It was just at its limit, hard swollen, glossy like an old gray scar. We made ourselves a fire, and we sat down and watched the current go. As I watched it I felt something squeezing inside me and tightening and trying to let go all at the same time. I knew I was not just feeling it myself; I knew I was feeling what Henry was going through at that moment. Except that I couldn’t stand it, the closing and opening. I jumped to my feet. I took Henry by the shoulders and I started shaking him. “Wake up,” I says, “wake up, wake up, wake up!” I didn’t know what had come over me. I sat down beside him again.

His face was totally white and hard. Then it broke, like stones break all of a sudden when water boils up inside them.

“I know it,” he says. “I know it. I can’t help it. It’s no use.”

We start talking. He said he knew what I’d done with the car. It was obvious it had been whacked out of shape and not just neglected. He said he wanted to give the car to me for good now, it was no use. He said he’d fixed it just to give it back and I should take it.

“No way,” I says, “I don’t want it.”

“That’s okay,” he says, “you take it.”

“I don’t want it, though,” I says back to him, and then to emphasize, just to emphasize, you understand, I touch his shoulder. He slaps my hand off.

“Take that car,” he says.

“No,” I say, “make me,” I say, and then he grabs my jacket and rips the arm loose. That jacket is a class act, suede with tags and zippers. I push Henry backwards, off the log. He jumps up and bowls me over. We go down in a clinch and come up swinging hard, for all we’re worth, with our fists. He socks my jaw so hard I feel like it swings loose. Then I’m at his ribcage and land a good one under his chin so his head snaps back. He’s dazzled. He looks at me and I look at him and then his eyes are full of tears and blood and at first I think he’s crying. But no, he’s laughing. “Ha! Ha!” he says. “Ha! Ha! Take good care of it.”

“Okay,” I says, “okay, no problem. Ha! Ha!”

I can’t help it, and I start laughing, too. My face feels fat and strange, and after a while I get a beer from the cooler in the trunk, and when I hand it to Henry he takes his shirt and wipes my germs off. “Hoof-and-mouth disease,” he says. For some reason this cracks me up, and so we’re really laughing for a while, and then we drink all the rest of the beers one by one and throw them in the river and see how far, how fast, the current takes them before they fill up and sink.

“You want to go on back?” I ask after a while. “Maybe we could snag a couple nice Kashpaw girls.”

He says nothing. But I can tell his mood is turning again.

“They’re all crazy, the girls up here, every damn one of them.”

“You’re crazy too,” I say, to jolly him up. “Crazy Lamartine boys!”

He looks as though he will take this wrong at first. His face twists, then clears, and he jumps up on his feet. “That’s right!” he says. “Crazier ’n hell. Crazy Indians!”

I think it’s the old Henry again. He throws off his jacket and starts swinging his legs out from the knees like a fancy dancer. He’s down doing something between a grouse dance and a bunny hop, no kind of dance I ever saw before, but neither has anyone else on all this green growing earth. He’s wild. He wants to pitch whoopee! He’s up and at me and all over. All this time I’m laughing so hard, so hard my belly is getting tied up in a knot.

“Got to cool me off!” he shouts all of a sudden. Then he runs over to the river and jumps in.

There’s boards and other things in the current. It’s so high. No sound comes from the river after the splash he makes, so I run right over. I look around. It’s getting dark. I see he’s halfway across the water already, and I know he didn’t swim there but the current took him. It’s far. I hear his voice, though, very clearly across it.

“My boots are filling,” he says.

He says this in a normal voice, like he just noticed and he doesn’t know what to think of it. Then he’s gone. A branch comes by. Another branch. And I go in.

By the time I get out of the river, off the snag I pulled myself onto, the sun is down. I walk back to the car, turn on the high beams, and drive it up the bank. I put it in first gear and then I take my foot off the clutch. I get out, close the door, and watch it plow softly into the water. The headlights reach in as they go down, searching, still lighted even after the water swirls over the back end. I wait. The wires short out. It is all finally dark. And then there is only the water, the sound of it going and running and going and running and running.

Study and Discussion Questions

1.
How does the tone of the story shift when Henry returns from Vietnam?

2.
How has Henry changed now that he’s back from Vietnam?

3.
List the various ways that Erdrich gives us clues throughout “The Red Convertible” about how it will end.

4.
What are the phases the car goes through? How do these stand for what Lyman and Henry are going through?

5.
What does the description of Henry’s picture tell us about Henry? About the narrator Lyman? Why is the picture incident placed where it is in the story?

6.
Why do Henry and Lyman fight down by the river?

7.
How does the first paragraph of the story manage to tell us exactly what the end of the story will be and yet not give that ending away?
Suggestions for Writing

1.
Discuss the image of the red convertible’s “drowning.” Why does Lyman send the car into the water? Why do you think the car’s lights are left on?

2.
Are there any ways in which Erdrich suggests that being Native Americans shapes Henry’s and Lyman’s experience?

3.
Pick one incident in the story—e.g., the visit to long-haired Susy in Alaska, or Henry’s watching TV and biting through his lip—and discuss why you think Erdrich included it.
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Report 
(1968)

Our group is against the war. But the war goes on. I was sent to Cleveland 
to talk to the engineers. The engineers were meeting in Cleveland. I was supposed to persuade them not to do what they are going to do. I took United’s 4:45 from LaGuardia arriving in Cleveland at 6:13. Cleveland is dark blue at 
that hour. I went directly to the motel, where the engineers were meeting. Hundreds of engineers attended the Cleveland meeting. I noticed many fractures among the engineers, bandages, traction. I noticed what appeared to be fracture of the carpal scaphoid in six examples. I notice numerous fractures of the humeral shaft, of the os calcis, of the pelvic girdle. I noticed a high incidence of clay-shoveller’s fracture. I could not account for these fractures. The engineers were making calculations, taking measurements, sketching on the black board, drinking beer, throwing bread, buttonholing employers, hurling glasses into the fireplace. They were friendly.

They were friendly. They were full of love and information. The chief engineer wore shades. Patella in Monk’s traction, clamshell fracture by the look of it. He was standing in a slum of beer bottles and microphone cable. “Have some 
of this chicken à la Isambard Kingdom Brunel1 the Great Ingineer,” he said. “And declare who you are and what we can do for you. What is your line, distinguished guest?”

“Software,” I said. “In every sense. I am here representing a small group of interested parties. We are interested in your thing, which seems to be functioning in the midst of so much dysfunction, function is interesting. Other people’s things don’t seem to be working. The State Department’s thing doesn’t seem to be working. The U.N.’s thing doesn’t seem to be working. The democratic left’s thing doesn’t seem to be working. Buddha’s thing—”

“Ask us anything about our thing, which seems to be working,” the chief engineer said. “We will open our hearts and heads to you, Software Man, because we want to be understood and loved by the great lay public, and have our 
marvels appreciated by that public, for which we daily unsung produce tons of new marvels each more life-enhancing than the last. Ask us anything. Do you want to know about evaporated thin-film metallurgy? Monolithic and hybrid integrated-circuit processes? The algebra of inequalities? Optimization theory? Complex high-speed micro-miniature closed and open loop systems? Fixed 
variable mathematical cost searches? Epitaxial deposition of semi-conductor materials? Gross interfaced space gropes? We also have specialists in the cuckooflower, the doctorfish, and the dumdum bullet as these relate to aspects of today’s expanding technology, and they do in the damnedest ways.”

I spoke to him then about the war. I said the same things people always say when they speak against the war. I said that the war was wrong. I said that large countries should not burn down small countries. I said that the government had made a series of errors. I said that these errors once small and forgivable were now immense and unforgivable. I said that the government was attempting to conceal its original errors under layers of new errors. I said that the government was sick with error, giddy with it. I said that ten thousand of our soldiers had already been killed in pursuit of the government’s errors. I said that tens of thousands of the enemy’s soldiers and civilians had been killed because of various errors, ours and theirs. I said that we are responsible for errors made in our name. I said that the government should not be allowed to make additional errors.

“Yes, yes,” the chief engineer said, “there is doubtless much truth in what you say, but we can’t possibly lose the war, can we? And stopping is losing, isn’t it? The war regarded as a process, stopping regarded as an abort? We don’t know how to lose a war. That skill is not among our skills. Our array smashes their array, that is what we know. That is the process. That is what is.

“But let’s not have any more of this dispiriting downbeat counterproductive talk. I have a few new marvels here I’d like to discuss with you just briefly. A few new marvels that are just about ready to be gaped at by the admiring layman. Consider for instance the area of realtime online computer-controlled wish evaporation. Wish evaporation is going to be crucial in meeting the rising expectations of the world’s peoples, which are as you know rising entirely too fast.”

I noticed then distributed about the room a great many transverse fractures of the ulna. “The development of the pseudo-ruminant stomach for underdeveloped peoples,” he went on, “is one of our interesting things you should be interested in. With the pseudo-ruminant stomach they can chew cuds, that is to say, eat grass. Blue is the most popular color worldwide and for that reason we are working with certain strains of your native Kentucky Poa pratensis, or bluegrass, as the staple input for the p/r stomach cycle, which would also give a shot in the arm to our balance-of-payments thing don’t you know. . . .” I noticed about me then a great number of metatarsal fractures in banjo splints. “The kangaroo initiative . . . eight hundred thousand harvested last year . . . highest percentage of edible protein of any herbivore yet studied . . .”

“Have new kangaroos been planted?”

The engineer looked at me.

“I intuit your hatred and jealousy of our thing,” he said. “The ineffectual always hate our thing and speak of it as anti-human, which is not at all a meaningful way to speak of our thing. Nothing mechanical is alien to me,” he said (amber spots making bursts of light in his shades), “because I am human, in a sense, and if I think it up, then ‘it’ is human too, whatever ‘it’ may be. Let me tell you, Software Man, we have been damned forbearing in the matter of this little war you declare yourself to be interested in. Function is the cry, and our thing is functioning like crazy. There are things we could do that we have not done. Steps we could take that we have not taken. These steps are, regarded in a certain light, the light of our enlightened self-interest, quite justifiable steps. We could, of course, get irritated. We could, of course, lose patience.
“We could, of course, release thousands upon thousands of self-powered crawling-along-the-ground lengths of titanium wire eighteen inches long with a diameter of .0005 centimetres (that is to say, invisible) which, scenting an enemy, climb up his trouser leg and wrap themselves around his neck. We have developed those. They are within our capabilities. We could, of course, release in the arena of the upper air our new improved pufferfish toxin which precipitates an identity crisis. No special technical problems there. That is almost laughably easy. We could, of course, place up to two million maggots in their rice within twenty-four hours. The maggots are ready, massed in secret staging areas in Alabama. We have hypodermic darts capable of piebalding the enemy’s pigmentation. We have rots, blights, and rusts capable of attacking his alphabet. Those are dandies. We have a hut-shrinking chemical which penetrates the fibres of the bamboo, causing it, the hut, to strangle its occupants. This operates only after 10 P.M., when people are sleeping. Their mathematics are at the mercy of a suppurating surd we have invented. We have a family of fishes trained to attack their fishes. We have the deadly testicle-destroying telegram. The cable companies are coöperating. We have a green substance that, well, I’d rather not talk about. We have a secret word that, if pronounced, produces multiple fractures in all living things in an area the size of four football fields.”

“That’s why—”

“Yes. Some damned fool couldn’t keep his mouth shut. The point is that the whole structure of enemy life is within our power to rend, vitiate, devour, and crush. But that’s not the interesting thing.”

“You recount these possibilities with uncommon relish.”

“Yes I realize that there is too much relish here. But you must realize that these capabilities represent in and of themselves highly technical and complex and interesting problems and hurdles on which our boys have expended many thousands of hours of hard work and brilliance. And that the effects are often grossly exaggerated by irresponsible victims. And that the whole thing represents a fantastic series of triumphs for the multidisciplined problem-solving team concept.” 

“I appreciate that.”

“We could unleash all this technology at once. You can imagine what would happen then. But that’s not the interesting thing.”

“What is the interesting thing?”

“The interesting thing is that we have a moral sense. It is on punched cards, perhaps the most advanced and sensitive moral sense the world has ever known.” 

“Because it is on punched cards?” 

“It considers all considerations in endless and subtle detail,” he said. “It even quibbles. With this great new moral tool, how can we go wrong? I confidently predict that, although we could employ all this splendid new weaponry I’ve been telling you about, we’re not going to do it.”

“We’re not going to do it?”

I took United’s 5:44 from Cleveland arriving at Newark at 7:19. New Jersey is bright pink at that hour. Living things move about the surface of New Jersey at that hour molesting each other only in traditional ways. I made my report to the group. I stressed the friendliness of the engineers. I said, It’s all right. I said, We have a moral sense. I said, We’re not going to do it. They didn’t believe me.

Study and Discussion Questions

1.
Describe the chief engineer’s attitude toward the war, toward technology, toward social problems, and toward morality.

2.
What do the chief engineer’s discussions of “wish evaporation” and the “pseudo-ruminant stomach” suggest about how he views the people of poor nations?

3.
What kind of person is Software Man? What does he represent? What effect does his talk with the chief engineer have on him?

4.
Reread the long paragraph in which the chief engineer describes the new weapons available. How are we supposed to react? What is the effect of the matter-of-fact tone in which these bizarre horrors are described?

5.
“Report” was first published during the Vietnam war. What in the story points to that war in particular?

Suggestions for Writing

1.
Discuss a product of modern technology that you find frightening.

2.
Speculate on how high-technology weaponry changes the nature of war.

TIM O’BRIEN (b. 1946)

Tim O’Brien was born in Austin, Minnesota, and studied at Macalester College and Harvard University. He worked as a national affairs reporter for the Washington Post, and he fought in the Vietnam war. His often autobiographical fiction includes If I Die in a Combat Zone, Box Me Up and Ship Me Home (1973); Northern Lights (1975); Going After Cacciato (1978), which won the National Book Award; The Nuclear Age (1985); The Things They Carried (1990); In the Lake of the Woods (1994); and Tomcat in Love (1998).

The Man I Killed
(1990)

His jaw was in his throat, his upper lip and teeth were gone, his one eye was shut, his other eye was a star-shaped hole, his eyebrows were thin and arched like a woman’s, his nose was undamaged, there was a slight tear at the lobe of one ear, his clean black hair was swept upward into a cowlick at the rear of the skull, his forehead was lightly freckled, his fingernails were clean, the skin at his left cheek was peeled back in three ragged strips, his right cheek was smooth and hairless, there was a butterfly on his chin, his neck was open to the spinal cord and 
the blood there was thick and shiny and it was this wound that had killed him. He lay face-up in the center of the trail, a slim, dead, almost dainty young man. He had bony legs, a narrow waist, long shapely fingers. His chest was sunken and poorly muscled—a scholar, maybe. His wrists were the wrists of a child. He wore a black shirt, black pajama pants, a gray ammunition belt, a gold ring on the third finger of his right hand. His rubber sandals had been blown off. One lay beside him, the other a few meters up the trail. He had been born, maybe, in 1946 in the village of My Khe near the central coastline of Quang Ngai Province,1 where his parents farmed, and where his family had lived for several centuries, and where, during the time of the French, his father and two uncles and many neighbors had joined in the struggle for independence. He was not a Communist. He was a citizen and a soldier. In the village of My Khe, as in all of Quang Ngai, patriotic resistance had the force of tradition, which was partly the force of legend, and from his earliest boyhood the man I killed would have listened to stories about the heroic Trung sisters and Tran Hung Dao’s famous rout of the Mongols and Le Loi’s final victory against the Chinese at Tot Dong.2 He would have been taught that to defend the land was a man’s highest duty and highest privilege. He had accepted this. It was never open to question. Secretly, though, it also frightened him. He was not a fighter. His health was poor, his body small and frail. He liked books. He wanted someday to be a teacher of mathematics. At night, lying on his mat, he could not picture himself doing the brave things his father had done, or his uncles, or the heroes of the stories. He hoped in his heart that he would never be tested. He hoped the Americans would go away. Soon, he hoped. He kept hoping and hoping, always, even when he was asleep.

“Oh, man, you fuckin’ trashed the fucker,” Azar said. “You scrambled his sorry self, look at that, you did, you laid him out like Shredded fuckin’ Wheat.”

“Go away,” Kiowa said.

“I’m just saying the truth. Like oatmeal.”

“Go,” Kiowa said.

“Okay, then, I take it back,” Azar said. He started to move away, then stopped and said, “Rice Krispies, you know? On the dead test, this particular individual gets A-Plus.”

Smiling at this, he shrugged and walked up the trail toward the village behind the trees.

Kiowa kneeled down.

“Just forget that crud,” he said. He opened up his canteen and held it out 
for a while and then sighed and pulled it away. “No sweat, man. What else could you do?”

Later, Kiowa said, “I’m serious. Nothing anybody could do. Come on, stop staring.”

The trail junction was shaded by a row of trees and tall brush. The slim young man lay with his legs in the shade. His jaw was in his throat. His one eye was shut and the other was a star-shaped hole.

Kiowa glanced at the body.

“All right, let me ask a question,” he said. “You want to trade places with him? Turn it all upside down—you want that? I mean, be honest.”

The star-shaped hole was red and yellow. The yellow part seemed to be getting wider, spreading out at the center of the star. The upper lip and gum and teeth were gone. The man’s head was cocked at a wrong angle, as if loose at the neck, and the neck was wet with blood.

“Think it over,” Kiowa said.

Then later he said, “Tim, it’s a war. The guy wasn’t Heidi—he had a weapon, right? It’s a tough thing, for sure, but you got to cut out that staring.”

Then he said, “Maybe you better lie down a minute.”

Then after a long empty time he said, “Take it slow. Just go wherever the spirit takes you.”

The butterfly was making its way along the young man’s forehead, which was spotted with small dark freckles. The nose was undamaged. The skin on the right cheek was smooth and fine-grained and hairless. Frail-looking, delicately boned, the young man would not have wanted to be a soldier and in his heart would have feared performing badly in battle. Even as a boy growing up in the village of My Khe, he had often worried about this. He imagined covering his head and lying in a deep hole and closing his eyes and not moving until the war was over. He had no stomach for violence. He loved mathematics. His eyebrows were thin and arched like a woman’s, and at school the boys sometimes teased him about how pretty he was, the arched eyebrows and long shapely fingers, and on the playground they mimicked a woman’s walk and made fun of his smooth skin and his love for mathematics. The young man could not make himself fight them. He often wanted to, but he was afraid, and this increased his shame. If he could not fight little boys, he thought, how could he ever become a soldier and fight the Americans with their airplanes and helicopters and bombs? It did not seem possible. In the presence of his father and uncles, he pretended to look forward to doing his patriotic duty, which was also a privilege, but at night he prayed with his mother that the war might end soon. Beyond anything else, he was afraid of disgracing himself, and therefore his family and village. But all he could do, he thought, was wait and pray and try not to grow up too fast.

“Listen to me,” Kiowa said. “You feel terrible, I know that.”

Then he said, “Okay, maybe I don’t know.”

Along the trail there were small blue flowers shaped like bells. The young man’s head was wrenched sideways, not quite facing the flowers, and even in the shade a single blade of sunlight sparkled against the buckle of his ammunition belt. The left cheek was peeled back in three ragged strips. The wounds at his neck had not yet clotted, which made him seem animate even in death, the blood still spreading out across his shirt.

Kiowa shook his head.

There was some silence before he said, “Stop staring.”

The young man’s fingernails were clean. There was a slight tear at the lobe of one ear, a sprinkling of blood on the forearm. He wore a gold ring on the third finger of his right hand. His chest was sunken and poorly muscled—a scholar, maybe. His life was now a constellation of possibilities. So, yes, maybe a scholar. And for years, despite his family’s poverty, the man I killed would have been determined to continue his education in mathematics. The means for this were arranged, perhaps, through the village liberation cadres, and in 1964 the young man began attending classes at the university in Saigon, where he avoided politics and paid attention to the problems of calculus. He devoted himself to his studies. He spent his nights alone, wrote romantic poems in his journal, took pleasure in the grace and beauty of differential equations. The war, he knew, would finally take him, but for the time being he would not let himself think about it. He had stopped praying; instead, now, he waited. And as he waited, in his final year at the university, he fell in love with a classmate, a girl of seventeen, who one day told him that his wrists were like the wrists of a child, so small and delicate, and who admired his narrow waist and the cowlick that rose up like a bird’s tail at the back of his head. She liked his quiet manner; she laughed at his freckles and bony legs. One evening, perhaps, they exchanged gold rings.

Now one eye was a star.

“You okay?” Kiowa said.

The body lay almost entirely in shade. There were gnats at the mouth, little flecks of pollen drifting above the nose. The butterfly was gone. The bleeding had stopped except for the neck wounds.

Kiowa picked up the rubber sandals, clapping off the dirt, then bent down to search the body. He found a pouch of rice, a comb, a fingernail clipper, a few soiled piasters, a snapshot of a young woman standing in front of a parked motorcycle. Kiowa placed these items in his rucksack along with the gray ammunition belt and rubber sandals.

Then he squatted down.

“I’ll tell you the straight truth,” he said. “The guy was dead the second he stepped on the trail. Understand me? We all had him zeroed. A good kill—weapon, ammunition, everything.” Tiny beads of sweat glistened at Kiowa’s forehead. His eyes moved from the sky to the dead man’s body to the knuckles of his own hands. “So listen, you best pull your shit together. Can’t just sit here all day.”

Later he said, “Understand?”

Then he said, “Five minutes, Tim. Five more minutes and we’re moving out.”

The one eye did a funny twinkling trick, red to yellow. His head was wrenched sideways, as if loose at the neck, and the dead young man seemed to be staring at some distant object beyond the bell-shaped flowers along the trail. The blood at the neck had gone to a deep purplish black. Clean fingernails, clean hair—he had been a soldier for only a single day. After his years at the university, the man I killed returned with his new wife to the village of My Khe, where he enlisted as a common rifleman with the 48th Vietcong Battalion. He knew he would die quickly. He knew he would see a flash of light. He knew he would fall dead and wake up in the stories of his village and people.

Kiowa covered the body with a poncho.

“Hey, you’re looking better,” he said. “No doubt about it. All you needed was time—some mental R&R.”

Then he said, “Man, I’m sorry.”

Then later he said, “Why not talk about it?”

Then he said, “Come on, man, talk.”

He was a slim, dead, almost dainty young man of about twenty. He lay with one leg bent beneath him, his jaw in his throat, his face neither expressive nor inexpressive. One eye was shut. The other was a star-shaped hole.

“Talk,” Kiowa said.

Study and Discussion Questions

1.
Why do you think the narrator describes the dead man’s body in such detail?

2.
Why does the narrator persist in imagining the life of the man he killed?

3.
What’s the significance of the narrator’s guess that the dead man was born in a place “where his family had lived for several centuries”?

4.
Why do you think the narrator imagines that the man he killed was a fearful and reluctant soldier?

5.
Why does the narrator assert that the dead man “was not a Communist”?

6.
What role does Azar play in the story? What do his reactions add to the story’s condemnation of war? And what is Kiowa’s role?

Suggestions for Writing

1.
What can we infer about the narrator of “The Man I Killed”? Write a sketch of what you imagine him to be like.

2.
In an effort to ease the narrator’s guilt, Kiowa says: “Tim, it’s a war. The guy wasn’t Heidi—he had a weapon, right?” How might Tim reply? How might you?

1American poet (1884–1933).

*“1919” is a chapter in Sula.
1American novelist (1914–1993); book appeared in 1946.

2Douglas MacArthur was in charge of the U.S. occupation of Japan after World 
War II.

1Nineteenth-century British engineer.

1Province in central South Vietnam.

2The Trung sisters led a Vietnamese rebellion against Chinese rule in a.d. 40; Tran Hung Dao repelled a Mongol attack in 1287; Le Loi defeated the Chinese in 1426.

